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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome to this

          3  hearing of the Public Safety Committee.  Today we

          4  will consider four legislative proposals regarding

          5  gun control and access to guns, and the City's role

          6  in purchasing guns.  The four proposals are:

          7                 Intro. 211, which would increase a

          8  number of mandatory restrictions on those who can

          9  possess a rifle or a shotgun.  And that would add

         10  those who are convicted misdemeanor assaults or of

         11  any three misdemeanors of any type. We will also

         12  track the federal language regarding domestic

         13  violence and regarding those subject to court

         14  restraining orders.

         15                 Resolution 289- A, which will urge

         16  the State Legislature to do exactly on a state level

         17  what we are doing here on a city level.

         18                 Resolution 288, which will call on

         19  Congress to pass a bill that will close the

         20  background check loophole at gun shows by extending

         21  the Brady Law to all sales at gun shows.

         22                 And Intro. 208, which would require

         23  City agencies to purchase weapons from those only

         24  manufacturers and suppliers who abide by a Code of

         25  Conduct as outlined in this bill.
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          2                 Today's hearing is important as New

          3  York City continue to see crimes committed with

          4  guns.  And recently available data, in the year

          5  2001, according to the Preliminary Mayor's

          6  Management Report, there were 1,871 reports of

          7  shooting victims; 1,604 reports of shooting

          8  incidents; and 3,141 arrests for gun possession,

          9  with over 10,000 weapons confiscated.

         10                 Today we will solicit testimony from

         11  all sides, to hear any improvements that people may

         12  have to this bill, to these bills that we are

         13  discussing.  We look forward to hearing from the

         14  City.

         15                 The City, as many know, with the

         16  Council also named as plaintiff, have sued gun

         17  manufacturers for among other theories, negligent

         18  marketing and distribution practices.  And I

         19  understand that the NYPD will update us on that

         20  today.  These are worthy proposals; we look forward

         21  to a debate on them.

         22                 I would like to also acknowledge the

         23  assistance and the actual impetus behind this, which

         24  came from Council Member David Yassky, who is the

         25  primary sponsor of these bills.  He has worked very
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          2  hard on these, and assisted the Public Safety

          3  Committee staff, who also worked very hard on these

          4  bills.

          5                 I would like to now turn it over to

          6  Council Member Yassky for his comments.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you

          8  very much, Mr. Chairman.  I want to just begin by

          9  commending your leadership on this issue.  Gun

         10  violence and gun regulation is a controversial

         11  issue, there is no question about it, there are

         12  strong feelings on both sides.  And a lot of people

         13  in public life are just as happy to stay away from

         14  controversial issues like gun control.  But by

         15  convening this hearing, I think that is a real

         16  active leadership on your part, and I commend you

         17  for it, and I'm grateful to you for it.

         18                 Gun violence and the proliferation of

         19  illegal guns on the streets of New York City is,

         20  after terrorism, the City's number one public safety

         21  problem.  Virtually, and it is a problem, moreover,

         22  that we know what we need to do to solve it, and we

         23  can solve, or at least, we can make, we can do a lot

         24  to make it a lot less of a problem.  The question is

         25  are we going to do it?
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          2                 Most guns used in crime in New York

          3  City are not actually purchased in gun stores in New

          4  York City.  They come into the City from other

          5  states, through illegal gun trafficking operations.

          6  And I believe that the goal of law enforcement ought

          7  to be to shut down these gun trafficking operations.

          8    And I'm hopeful that this hearing and the

          9  legislation that we are going to consider today

         10  would help us to do just that.

         11                 According to new data, we received

         12  data that I do not believe has been previously

         13  released from the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and

         14  Firearms.  This shows that 74 percent of the guns

         15  used in crime in New York State are not bought in

         16  New York State, but are bought outside New York

         17  State in states with lax gun laws, and then brought

         18  here through, by gun traffickers.  The top five

         19  offenders, the top five source states for New York

         20  City guns, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina, South

         21  Carolina, and Virginia are states in which people

         22  can go and purchase guns by the car load, and then

         23  bring them back here and sell them on the streets of

         24  Brooklyn, the streets of Queens, the streets of

         25  Manhattan, for three and four times what they paid
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          2  for it.

          3                 The fact that there are certain

          4  states that predominate, and again and again turn

          5  out to be the source of crime guns, tell us that

          6  this is not just random, it is not simply that guns

          7  happen to make their way into New York City. These

          8  are deliberate and calculated acts of gun

          9  trafficking. And every time somebody puts an illegal

         10  gun in the hands of a criminal, they are risking a

         11  life, they are taking a risk that the gun is going

         12  to be used to shoot somebody, and they need to be

         13  punished that way.

         14                 We know not just which states the

         15  guns are coming from; we know which gun stores in

         16  those states the illegal guns are coming from.

         17  There are only 80,000 licensed gun dealers in the

         18  United States, 80,000.  Out of those, 140, that is

         19  0.2 percent, 140 gun dealers account for one- fifth

         20  of all the guns used or traced to crimes committed.

         21  So of all the guns, crime guns traced by the Bureau

         22  of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, 0.2 percent of

         23  dealers account for one- fifth of those guns.  Now

         24  those are the dealers, whether they are knowingly or

         25  not, those dealers are aiding and abetting crime,
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          2  and they need to be put out of business.

          3                 I think we need to do two things:

          4                 First, we do need to beef up

          5  enforcement here at the local level.  The Bloomberg

          6  Administration, under Commissioner Kelly's

          7  leadership has taken some important steps recently,

          8  and I know we will hear about those, but I believe

          9  much more needs to be done.  Just for comparison, in

         10  the year 2000, 14,000 drug dealers were arrested,

         11  and 65 gun dealers, 14,000 drug dealers, only 65 gun

         12  dealers arrested in New York City in the year 2000.

         13  Every time, and as the Chair just said, there were

         14  10,000 illegal guns seized last year.  Every time a

         15  gun is seized on the streets of New York, there

         16  ought to be two arrests, the person who carried the

         17  gun, or the person who used the gun in a crime, and

         18  the person who put the gun in that criminal's hands,

         19  they are both equally responsible.

         20                 Second, we need to force the gun

         21  industry to do its part.  The gun industry by

         22  knowingly selling guns through gun stores that are

         23  the source of gun trafficking guns participates in

         24  the underground market and allows the underground

         25  market to flourish.  And we have got to force them
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          2  to shape up and change the way they do business.

          3                 Now we cannot, the City cannot

          4  regulate the National Gun Industry, but we can use

          5  our market power, and that is what one of the bills

          6  proposed here does, and here we are following in the

          7  footsteps of Attorney General Elliot Spitzer who has

          8  proposed something similar at the State level. New

          9  York City and New York City employees ought to

         10  purchase their guns that are used for City business,

         11  in the case of police officers, their service

         12  weapons, only from gun manufacturers that are

         13  willing to act responsibility.  If the gun industry

         14  is not willing and if a gun company is not willing

         15  to do its part to cut down on gun crime in New York

         16  City, then we ought not to support that company with

         17  our dollars.

         18                 Mr. Chairman, thank you, again, for

         19  holding this hearing.  I look forward to hearing the

         20  testimony of the witnesses, and thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         22  Council Member Yassky.  Let me first welcome to the

         23  City Council Chambers today the Pace Honors Program,

         24  which is sitting up in the balcony, I believe.  And

         25  introduce you to some of my Council members on this
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          2  Committee.  Hello.  And on this Committee we have on

          3  the far left, - -

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Pace

          5  University.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Pace

          7  University, yes. --  Council Member Helen Foster

          8  from the Bronx; next to her is Council Member

          9  Melinda Katz from Queens; Council Member James

         10  Davis, who is very anxious for me to tell you that

         11  he is a Pace University graduate and a former police

         12  officer, I'm sure that will come up, so I will beat

         13  you to it.  And on my right, as you have heard from,

         14  is Council Member David Yassky.

         15                 Our first witnesses today will be

         16  from the Police Department.  And let me first

         17  clarify that for anyone who may get the wrong

         18  impression here, the Police Department and Mayor

         19  Bloomberg are doing an excellent job in making sure

         20  that only people who should have guns, do have guns,

         21  and people who shouldn't, do not.  They are using

         22  their sound discretion and that is what is allowed

         23  under the law.  What we are attempting to do here is

         24  just codify some of what they are already doing in

         25  their discretion.
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          2                 So today we will be hearing from the

          3  Director of Licensing, Thomas Prasso, and sitting

          4  with him is the Captain of Licensing, Captain Royal

          5  Richter, along with the Assistant Commissioner for

          6  Intergovernmental Affairs, Sue Petito.  So I believe

          7  the Director of Licensing, Prasso, will be giving

          8  the statement.

          9                 MR. PRASSO:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10    Good morning, Chairman Vallone and members of the

         11  Public Safety Committee.  I am Thomas Prasso, the

         12  Director of the License Division of the New York

         13  City Police Department.  I am here today with

         14  Captain Roy Richter, the Commanding Officer of the

         15  License Division, on behalf of Police Commissioner

         16  Raymond W. Kelly, to discuss with you our policies

         17  and procedures governing the issuance of

         18  Rifle/Shotgun Permits and Handgun Licenses in the

         19  City of New York, and the bills and resolutions

         20  before the Committee today.

         21                 Before specifically addressing the

         22  bills and resolutions, please allow me to present a

         23  brief overview of the mission of the License

         24  Division.  Our mission is to ensure that

         25  requirements set forth in local, state, and federal
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          2  law are uniformly applied to the process of

          3  licensing firearms and designating Special Patrolmen

          4  in a courteous, expeditious, and professional

          5  manner.

          6                 In order to accomplish that mission,

          7  the License Division employees a number of civilian

          8  and uniformed investigators who review handgun

          9  license and rifle/shotgun permit applications to

         10  determine if the person applying meets the

         11  requirements enumerated in our local laws and rules,

         12  the New York State Penal Law, and the various

         13  federal statutes governing the issuance of handgun

         14  licenses.  Upon completion of the application

         15  process, the investigator submits a recommendation

         16  to his or her supervisor, who reviews the

         17  application for completeness and compliance with the

         18  law, and then makes his or her own recommendation.

         19  This completed package is then reviewed by the

         20  Commanding Officer and the application is either

         21  approved or denied.  Approved applicants receive

         22  their license or permit, while disapproved

         23  applicants may appeal the decision by submitting a

         24  written appeal to the Director of the License

         25  Division.  In the event, that an appeal to the
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          2  Director is denied, the applicant may begin an

          3  Article 78 proceeding in New York's State Supreme

          4  Court to contest the decision.  As can be seen from

          5  the above, the License Division goes to great

          6  lengths to ensure that only fully qualified

          7  applicants are granted licenses or permits for

          8  firearms.

          9                 In addition to processing new

         10  applications, the License Division also tracks the

         11  status of existing licenses and processes renewal

         12  applications as those licenses expire. The License

         13  Division also monitors compliance with the rules

         14  governing licenses and permits, as set forth in

         15  Title 38 of the Rules of the City of New York, in

         16  order to ensure that those rules are followed.  To

         17  this end, the License Division maintains a team of

         18  investigators who follow- up on incidents involving

         19  licensees or permit holders to determine their

         20  fitness to continue firearms privileges.  Rule

         21  violations may result in suspension or permanent

         22  revocation of the license or permit.

         23                 Now I would like to focus on Intro.

         24  211, a bill that seeks to amend the Administrative

         25  Code section 10- 303 to add new provisions to
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          2  prohibit issuance of a rifle/shotgun permit to

          3  certain persons.  The proposed amendments to AC 10

          4  303 would add provisions that are intended to

          5  prevent persons who have been convicted of a serious

          6  offense, as that term is defined in Penal Law

          7  section 265, subsection 17, the misdemeanor crime of

          8  domestic violence as defined in Title 18 of the

          9  United States Code section 921(a), misdemeanor

         10  assault as defined in the Penal Law, or any three

         11  misdemeanors as defined in local, state or federal

         12  law.  The amendments would also prohibit persons who

         13  have been the subject of an ineligibility order

         14  issued pursuant to section 530.14 of the New York

         15  State Criminal Procedure Law, or section 842- A of

         16  the New York State Family Court Act, or persons

         17  subject to an order of protection, restraining such

         18  person from harassing, stalking or threatening an

         19  intimate partner or the child of such intimate

         20  partner, from obtaining a rifle/shotgun permit.

         21                 The New York City Police Department

         22  supports the intent of this bill.  However, I would

         23  like to make the Council aware of the License

         24  Division's practices regarding these issues.

         25  Pursuant to Title 38, the License Division does not
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          2  issue licenses or permits to any person who has been

          3  convicted of a serious offense or a misdemeanor

          4  crime of domestic violence.  Nor does the License

          5  Division issue licenses or permits to any person who

          6  is subject to an ineligibility order or court

          7  restraining order.  While current License Division

          8  rules do not specifically prohibit a person with a

          9  record of three misdemeanor convictions from

         10  obtaining a handgun license or rifle/shotgun permit,

         11  it is highly unlikely that a person with that type

         12  of criminal record would qualify for a license or

         13  permit since good cause would most probably exist

         14  for the denial of the applications.  We would also

         15  note that imposing a statutory disqualification of

         16  three misdemeanor convictions should not prevent the

         17  licensing officer from exercising appropriate

         18  discretion in denying a permit to an applicant with

         19  one or two misdemeanor convictions based upon good

         20  cause.  However, with respect to the

         21  disqualification for one misdemeanor conviction of

         22  assault, as well as for three misdemeanor

         23  convictions for any crime, we submit that there

         24  might be circumstances where a statutory bar would

         25  prevent an appropriate exercise of discretion by a
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          2  licensing officer after investigating the details of

          3  the incidents involved.

          4                 Currently, the License Division

          5  maintains approximately 24,000 active rifle/shotgun

          6  permits.  Although the License Division does not

          7  maintain statistics on individuals who fall within

          8  the disqualifying criteria this bill proposes, in

          9  preparing for this hearing, I directed my staff to

         10  conduct a review of the folders of 500 active permit

         11  holders whose permit was issued from June to

         12  December of 2001. Of the 500 cases reviewed, only

         13  one would have been disqualified under the proposed

         14  criteria.  That person was convicted in September

         15  1958 of Assault in the 3rd degree. Before the permit

         16  was issued however, this individual was directed to

         17  obtain, and supplied, a Certificate of Relief from

         18  Disabilities issued by a Justice of the New York

         19  State Supreme Court.

         20                 As a general matter, the

         21  applicability of the bill to present permit holders

         22  may need clarification. Permits are renewed on a

         23  three- year cycle.  It is not stated in the bill

         24  whether current permit holders are intended to be

         25  subject to the new restrictions, and it is unclear
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          2  whether current permit holders may be disqualified

          3  by the new law since they are lawfully in possession

          4  of their permit.  If the law were to require an

          5  immediate evaluation of the criminal history of

          6  every permit holder, the bill would impose a

          7  significant administrative burden on the License

          8  Division to accomplish that purpose.  Similarly, it

          9  is unclear whether the bill would allow a person who

         10  produces a valid Certificate of Relief from

         11  Disabilities to overcome the proposed statutory

         12  restrictions.

         13                 Resolution No. 288, calls upon the

         14  City Council to support a federal bill that would

         15  extend Brady Law provisions requiring background

         16  checks for retail handgun sales to cover sales at

         17  gun shows.  The Police Department supports this

         18  bill, which would amend federal law to be consistent

         19  with present New York State Law expressed in General

         20  Business Law Article 39- DD.

         21                 In New York City, in order for a

         22  licensee to purchase a handgun, he or she must first

         23  request written purchase authorization form the

         24  Commanding Officer of the License Division.  Prior

         25  to granting this authorization, the License Division
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          2  performs a Brady Law check on the individual

          3  requesting the purchase of handgun.  This Brady Law

          4  check consists of a National Crime Information

          5  Center check of the individual's arrest record,

          6  which accesses the FBI national database.  Once

          7  cleared, the licensee is notified to pick up a

          8  handgun purchase authorization form from the License

          9  Division.  This two- part authorization form is

         10  valid for a period of 30 days from the issuance

         11  date.  Once the handgun purchase is completed the

         12  licensee has a 72- hour period to have the handgun

         13  inspected by License Division personnel and entered

         14  on his or her license.  The licensee must return one

         15  part of the authorization form, completed by an

         16  authorized seller for placement in the licensee's

         17  file.  The remaining stub portion of the

         18  authorization form remains with the authorized

         19  seller for its records.

         20                 With a valid purchase authorization,

         21  a licensee may only purchase a handgun from one of

         22  the following:

         23                 1.  A licensed New York State and

         24  Federal Firearms Dealer;

         25                 2.  The holder of a current, valid,
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          2  New York State, or New York City handgun license;

          3                 3.  A New York State or New York City

          4  Police Officer or Peace Officer, as defined under

          5  the Criminally Procedure Law; or

          6                 4.  The Estate of a New York City or

          7  New York State handgun licensee.

          8                 Resolution No. 289 calls upon the

          9  City Council to urge the State Legislature to pass a

         10  bill adding three disqualifying factors to state

         11  law, similar to those in Intro. 211.  We support the

         12  resolution in concept, but as you know, federal law

         13  already prohibits possession of a firearm by a

         14  person convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic

         15  violence. Currently, the License Division maintains

         16  approximately 39,000 active handgun licenses in the

         17  City of New York.  As previously stated, the License

         18  Division does not maintain statistics on individuals

         19  who fall within the disqualifying criteria, Intro.

         20  211 proposes.  In preparing for this hearing I

         21  directed my staff to conduct a random interview of

         22  the folders of 500 active handgun license holders.

         23  Of the 500 cases reviewed, only one would have been

         24  disqualified under the proposed criteria.  Similar

         25  to the rifle/shotgun permit previously identified,
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          2  this person was convicted in January of 1977 of

          3  attempted assault in second degree.  Before the

          4  handgun license was issued however, this individual

          5  was directed to and supplied a Certificate of Relief

          6  from Disability issued by a Justice of the New York

          7  Supreme Court.

          8                 Finally, with respect to Intro. 208,

          9  the Police Department respectfully refrains from

         10  making a comment on the provisions of the bill in

         11  light of the pending lawsuit brought by the City

         12  against gun manufacturers seeking injunctive relief

         13  and money damages for matters closely related to the

         14  substance of the bill.  We are concerned that

         15  discussion of Intro. 208 would necessarily include

         16  issues, which would be part of discovery or

         17  settlement negotiations in the lawsuit, and

         18  therefore it would be counterproductive to address

         19  them now.

         20                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         21  speak with you today about the licensing of

         22  firearms.  And we are available to answer any

         23  questions you may have.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I believe you

         25  are the only one with the statement, correct?
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          2                 MR. PRASSO:  That is correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, thank

          4  you.  Let me just first note that, I think you for

          5  the study of the 500 current permit holders, but you

          6  did say that one person did not fit the criteria

          7  that we proposed, which would make, if my math is

          8  correct, 78 out of the 39,000, if that was

          9  extrapolated among the 39,000 that would fit this

         10  criteria, meaning about 78 people would have three

         11  misdemeanor convictions or an assault conviction,

         12  and that is worrisome.

         13                 Now you mentioned, again, this is, we

         14  are here to get your opinions on this bill, and we

         15  will make some modifications based on what you have

         16  mentioned to us, and you mentioned something about

         17  whether this applies to current permit holders, and

         18  that is something we will look into.  My inclination

         19  is to have it not do that, because of the

         20  administrative burden that you mentioned and the

         21  finances involved there during a budget deficit.

         22  That is something we will work with you on.

         23                 The second question though, you said

         24  there would be circumstances where, in your

         25  discretion, you would possibly feel it proper to
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          2  give a gun permit to someone who might have an

          3  assault conviction or three misdemeanor convictions.

          4    Now by those circumstances, I'm assuming you mean

          5  a time period, but let me have you elaborate on what

          6  circumstances you mean?

          7                 MR. PRASSO:  Well, generally

          8  speaking, yes, many times we have applicants who

          9  have been in the court system many, many years, and

         10  a number of years have past since their contact with

         11  the criminal courts without any further contact and

         12  without any other indication that the person has

         13  engaged in antisocial behavior.  So in the situation

         14  like that, we would like to maintain the discretion

         15  to determine whether or not a license would be

         16  issued.

         17                 In addition, courts will routinely

         18  grant a Certificate of Relief from Disabilities for

         19  somebody with that type of a conviction in their

         20  background.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Do you have an

         22  opinion on what type of time period we should put in

         23  this bill, should we decide to put one in?

         24                 MR. PRASSO:  I would think, at least,

         25  10 years.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  That would

          3  track the State predict statute, which would make

          4  sense.  And I should clarify that after that 10-

          5  year period, that does not mean that someone would

          6  be allowed to possess a gun, it would mean, again,

          7  it is completely in your discretion and you could

          8  still invoke the good cause exception or the moral

          9  character exception to prevent them from having a

         10  gun.

         11                 MR. PRASSO:  Yes, that is correct.

         12  And we do go to great pains to screen out people who

         13  are really unfit to have firearms.  We put in a

         14  tremendous amount of effort to eliminate those

         15  people.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Could you give

         17  us an example of how many people do apply for a

         18  firearm in a year period, and how many do get turned

         19  down, and how many get approved?

         20                 MR. PRASSO:  I'm going to turn that

         21  over to Captain Richter, he keeps our statistics for

         22  us.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

         24                 CAPT. RICHTER:  For the last three

         25  years, the number of applications and the number of
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          2  people who have been approved for handgun licenses

          3  have remained the same.  For rifle/shotgun permits,

          4  approximately 1,300 apply, approximately 1,100 are

          5  approved.  For handgun license applicants

          6  approximately 4,000 apply, and approximately 3,300

          7  are approved.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And what is the

          9  most common reason that someone would not be

         10  approved?

         11                 CAPT. RICHTER:  Generally, it's an

         12  arrest record.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Again, because

         14  Council Member Yassky is the prime sponsor of this

         15  bill, I have additional questions, but I am going to

         16  have him take over some questioning for the moment,

         17  and we will have some more from the other Council

         18  members soon.  Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman.  Thank you, Mr. Prasso, for your

         21  testimony and your statement.  I'm an enormous

         22  admirer of the NYPD and the work that you do, and

         23  particular, The License Division.  I mean, we, I

         24  think, have the finest firearm regulation regime in

         25  the country between the laws and the tremendous job
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          2  that you do of applying those laws.  I think you do

          3  just an astonishingly effective job of making sure

          4  that the people, who have no business having a

          5  permit to buy a gun, get one.  You do such a good

          6  job, in fact, that the criminals are forced to go

          7  elsewhere.  Very few criminals come to you and get

          8  permits to buy a gun, and then use them to arm

          9  themselves, as you know. Rather they go out on the

         10  street and avail themselves of the underground

         11  market.  And I think it is the strength of that

         12  underground market is in some ways a testament to

         13  the great job that you do.  I don't mean that

         14  ironic, I mean that, and I think you should be proud

         15  of the work of your Division.

         16                 MR. PRASSO:  Thank you, Councilman.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Pardon me?

         18                 MR. PRASSO:  Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  My question

         20  then is, how do we now take the next step in trying

         21  to address the problems caused by that underground

         22  market?  And we have made some significant strides,

         23  there is no question.  There is the rate of gun

         24  violence has declined over the past several years.

         25  It is still unacceptably high, still conservatively
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          2  higher than was several decades ago, when, I mean in

          3  the forties, fifties, sixties, before gun

          4  possession, illegal gun possession became as common

          5  as it is.  And that is what I would like to try and

          6  figure out, what we can do about that?

          7                 The data that we have, and I believe

          8  that is from the State Criminal Justice

          9  Coordinator's Office, again, shows 60 arrests for

         10  gun trafficking in the year 2000.  Why do you think

         11  that number is as low as it is, and could we do,

         12  what could the Department do, what help could you

         13  get from us to increase that number?

         14                 MR. PRASSO:  Council member, I'm

         15  going to respectfully decline to answer the

         16  question, only because I don't feel I'm the proper

         17  person to answer it for you.  My office deals

         18  strictly with licensing of the firearms and not with

         19  any enforcement activities that the Department would

         20  take in order to get illegal firearms off the

         21  street.  So with all due respect, I don't believe I

         22  can answer the question for you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Is there

         24  anybody from the Department here who is qualified to

         25  answer that question, here today?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Not

          3  directly, Councilman, I'm sorry.  We were under the

          4  impression that the hearing was going to discuss the

          5  licensing provision and we didn't have someone from

          6  our gun trafficking entities in the Department to

          7  come and speak with you today.  You know, we can

          8  certainly talk about this at a later time at a

          9  different hearing or at another time.  But at this

         10  point, we were under the impression that the hearing

         11  would really be about the bills, and that we were

         12  not going to be able to discuss 208 because of the

         13  lawsuit.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well let me

         15  ask you about - -  Oh, I'm sorry.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Let me just

         17  jump in for a second.  In your defense the last bill

         18  was put on recently, we did mention it to you, and

         19  you did explain to us that you would not speak about

         20  it because of the lawsuit.  We will be, regarding

         21  the second part to this bill, the gun trafficking

         22  part, we will be having additional hearings down the

         23  road, which you will have notice on and you will

         24  have the proper people down here, I would assume.

         25                 But regarding the lawsuit, obviously,
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          2  there are, the lawsuit, itself, is public knowledge.

          3    Could you explain to us the subject matter of that

          4  lawsuit and the status of it?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Sure.

          6    The lawsuit was filed in April of 2001 and its, as

          7  you mentioned before, it's brought by the Council by

          8  the Mayor, the City of New York, and also by the

          9  Health and Hospital Corporation. And it reflects the

         10  huge amount of damage and nuisance to the City

         11  created by gun violence.  It targets 30

         12  manufacturers plus John Doe manufacturers, ones that

         13  might be identified later on.  And it states several

         14  different causes of action in negligence, in product

         15  liability, in nuisance, particularly, both public

         16  nuisance, just common law nuisance, and statutory

         17  nuisance, because under the Penal Law section 400-

         18  05, the unlawful possession or disposition of a

         19  firearm is determined to be a statutory nuisance.

         20                 So the Law Department drafted the

         21  complaint. The lawsuit was filed in April of 2001,

         22  and it was answered by the manufacturers, they did

         23  not move to dismiss it, but as discovery was about

         24  to proceed, September 11th happened, and the Law

         25  Department was displaced from its offices and asked
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          2  for a stay pending relocation and being able to go

          3  back to normal business.

          4                 But in the interim, the State

          5  lawsuit, which is very similar to this lawsuit,

          6  brought by the State Attorney General, was dismissed

          7  by the Supreme Court, and that is now being

          8  appealed.  And it is before the Appellate Division

          9  right now, there were oral arguments on that case in

         10  May, and they are waiting a decision.  So the Law

         11  Department has asked for the continuation of the

         12  stay, pending that determination, because the

         13  lawsuit is very similar to ours.

         14                 And so right now it is being stayed

         15  and we are waiting for an Appellate Division

         16  decision.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.  And

         18  just for the members of this Committee, that is one

         19  of the reasons we are just discussing that last

         20  bill, regarding gun trafficking, not taking action

         21  on it, because you have informed us you don't want

         22  anything to jeopardize the ongoing lawsuit.

         23                 And I will turn it back over to, Mr.

         24  Yassky.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well thank
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          2  you.  I'm sorry, the lawsuit was filed in 2001?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  April

          4  of 2001.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  So a little

          6  over a year ago.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:

          8  Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I'm not sure

         10  I understand the position that you don't want to

         11  discuss, enforcement efforts against gun

         12  trafficking, or what legislative measures against

         13  the gun issue might be appropriate until that

         14  lawsuit is finished.  I don't think it would be very

         15  wise for the City to freeze discussion of gun

         16  control policy until this lawsuit is completed,

         17  which could be two, three, four years down the road.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  No,

         19  what we didn't want to discuss was the bill, 208,

         20  which is about the procurement issues and the manner

         21  in which we would like the manufacturers to change

         22  their policies in order to be considered responsible

         23  suppliers, because those requirements in the bill

         24  are very similar to expressed desires in the amended

         25  complaint of the City.  And so to get into the
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          2  details of those requirements, I think, would be

          3  part of both discovery and settlement negotiations

          4  in the lawsuit.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well, okay,

          6  well all right.  I will not prolong this discussion

          7  on this issue.  But I think it would only help our

          8  efforts.  The lawsuit is obviously part of the

          9  City's larger efforts to force the gun industry to

         10  behave more responsibly, it would seem to me that

         11  legislative action would only help those efforts

         12  rather than hinder them.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Well

         14  I think at this point New York City, as you said

         15  yourself, has probably the toughest gun laws in the

         16  country.  And I think that there is certainly room

         17  in federal law to improve, as you know, one of the

         18  resolutions supports the, you know, closing the gun

         19  show loophole in the Brady Law.  But, and we have a

         20  very active gun trafficking effort in the Police

         21  Department, I don't want to leave the impression

         22  that we don't.  It is just that we didn't think that

         23  was the gravid arum of this hearing, and so we

         24  didn't prepare for that.  We found out about it on

         25  last Friday.
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          2                 And so, we certainly have a

          3  tremendous effort that we make debriefing prisoners

          4  in terms of where they got their illegal guns is a

          5  standard of police interrogation at this point.  So,

          6  you know, speaking to the low number of people who

          7  are illegal gun traffickers, according to, I

          8  believe, the DCJS statistics, you know, we at this

          9  table are not qualified to speak to that.  But I'm

         10  sure that there is tremendous room in both law and

         11  enforcement to improve.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I just have

         13  one last question; I know that others are waiting to

         14  ask questions. When the Department was here for a

         15  hearing on School Safety, one incident that was

         16  talked about quite a bit was the shooting at Martin

         17  Luther King High School on the west side of

         18  Manhattan.  And the two alleged perpetrators in that

         19  shooting were both 17- year- olds, and they had, at

         20  least, one firearm, I don't recall now if it was one

         21  or two firearms.  They plainly acquired those

         22  illegally since they are too young to have a handgun

         23  or any firearm.

         24                 And I asked at the time whether any

         25  arrests had been made of the supplier of that
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          2  handgun, and the answer was, at that time, no.

          3                 Do you know if any arrests have been

          4  made since then in that particular incident?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  No,

          6  but I can certainly find out.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you, I

          8  appreciate it.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Sure.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you

         11  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         13  Council Member Yassky.  I would like to now

         14  recognize Council Member Katz.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Thank you,

         16  ladies and gentlemen for joining us here today.  I

         17  actually have a few general questions.  But very

         18  quickly, my understanding of your read on 211, am I

         19  wrong to think that maybe you just think it is a bit

         20  duplicative, except for the misdemeanor conviction

         21  provision, is that really the main argument?

         22                 MR. PRASSO:  Essentially, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Okay, but it

         24  really doesn't basically harm anything in the way

         25  that you are now doing business.  Really the only
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          2  difference really would be that taking away the

          3  discretion of the triple misdemeanor crime of

          4  assault, correct?

          5                 MR. PRASSO:  That and we are also

          6  concerned that by imposing a three misdemeanor rule,

          7   - -

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Without

          9  discretion.

         10                 MR. PRASSO: - -  that if somebody had

         11  one or two misdemeanor convictions that that might

         12  effect the outcome of an application from a person

         13  like that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  All right.  I

         15  have a few questions, just because you are here and

         16  because I'm curious about the laws and what we can

         17  do to help them.

         18                 What is the main reason that people

         19  apply for gun permits?

         20                 MR. PRASSO:  In my personal opinion,

         21  it is for self- protection.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  No, let me back

         23  up then, I apologize, I'm a former litigator, I

         24  should know better.  Do you get, on your

         25  applications, the reasons that people apply for gun
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          2  licenses?  If I want to apply for a gun license, do

          3  I have to tell you why?

          4                 MR. PRASSO:  Well, if you are

          5  applying for a carried business license, which would

          6  allow you to carry the firearm concealed, 24 hours a

          7  day, seven days a week, you have to spell out your

          8  need, you have to spell out what is called proper

          9  cause.  For the other types of licenses, if you, for

         10  example, a premise is residence or a premise is

         11  business, as long as you meet the statutory

         12  requirements you can receive that license.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  And a rifle and

         14  a shotgun?

         15                 MR. PRASSO:  Rifle and a shotgun is

         16  also a relaxed standard compared to the carry

         17  business license.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So you don't

         19  have to, so if I want to apply for a rifle, I could

         20  just say, I want a rifle.  I'm over the age of 18, I

         21  don't have any misdemeanor assault records, I don't

         22  have an order of protection against me, and I get

         23  it?

         24                 MR. PRASSO:  That is essentially

         25  true.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Unless I'm of

          3  not good moral character?

          4                 MR. PRASSO:  Well we do conduct a

          5  very thorough background check.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  The Chairman is

          7  going like this.  Yes.

          8                 MR. PRASSO:  Yes, we do conduct a

          9  thorough background investigation to make that

         10  determination.  If we turn up anything which

         11  requires following up, for example, an arrest

         12  history, because the License Division under Criminal

         13  Procedure Law can look at sealed criminal arrest

         14  records to see where a person who has been arrested,

         15  but the case was later dismissed, and we can ask you

         16  what happened in that particular case, we can get a

         17  copies of the complaint reports and make our

         18  evaluation and determination of whether or not we

         19  should issue the permit.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So good moral

         21  character would be basically whether you are arrest,

         22  I mean, it is really your record, as opposed to - -

         23                 MR. PRASSO:  Essentially.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: - -  whether or

         25  not I have, I don't know, whatever.  I didn't want

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  to say, in politics, you don't want to say, I'm

          3  getting into dangerous water here, but it is really

          4  just an arrest record basically.

          5                 MR. PRASSO:  An arrest record,

          6  psychiatric history, history of domestic violence.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:   I want to ask

          8  a series of questions, because I'm mostly just

          9  curious, and I rarely have the opportunity.

         10                 Would you happen to know between men

         11  and women, the gun permits, how many, what the

         12  percentage is between men and women who have gun

         13  permits in the State of New York or the City of New

         14  York, I guess?

         15                 MR. PRASSO:  Not off hand, we would

         16  have to look into that for you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  You don't have

         18  an idea?

         19                 MR. PRASSO:  I would say the majority

         20  are men, but I couldn't give a percentage, I just

         21  don't know.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Do you have any

         23  idea how many, what the percentages of men and women

         24  that apply that might be denied?

         25                 MR. PRASSO:  Denied, no, I don't know

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  the percentages that are denied that are men and

          3  that are women.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Can we get

          5  those numbers? I would be very curious to know, not

          6  only with the rifle and the shotgun permits, but

          7  also the revolvers and the pistols, what the

          8  percentages are of both, and also, I'm seeing a no

          9  over there, I don't understand why?

         10                 MR. PRASSO:  I don't think I'm going

         11  to be able to supply that to you, because we don't

         12  track it that way.  In other words, we don't track

         13  it by gender.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  You mean on an

         15  application I don't have to say whether I'm a male

         16  or a female?

         17                 MR. PRASSO:  Well you do, but its not

         18  one of the criteria for issuing a license.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  You don't have

         20  a field for it?

         21                 MR. PRASSO:  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  In other words

         23  on your computer?

         24                 CAPT. RICHTER:  Actually, we have a

         25  field for it in the computer.  We don't track gender
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          2  or race for statistical purposes in the License

          3  Division at all.  However, it is something that is

          4  important for an application, information to be

          5  contained in the file for future reference if there

          6  is an incident involving the licensee.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Why is it

          8  important in the applications?

          9                 MR. PRASSO:  For identification

         10  purposes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  For

         12  identification purposes.

         13                 MR. PRASSO:  In the event a police

         14  officer confronts somebody who claims they have a

         15  license, they would have to produce the license, and

         16  they might call us or check our computer database to

         17  see whether the license is valid.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  I don't mean to

         19  belabor it, but if it is in the computer as a field,

         20  and I'm relatively computer illiterate and I will

         21  definitely admit that, I'm assuming that if it is in

         22  a field you can get that information; am I wrong?

         23                 MR. PRASSO:  I think it is something

         24  that we would have to ask our MIS people to get for

         25  us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Okay, I will

          3  drop it, but I would like the answer afterwards.

          4                 Do you approximately how many people

          5  apply for rifle and shotgun permits last year, or in

          6  2000, in general?

          7                 MR. PRASSO:  Captain Richter has that

          8  number.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  What is it,

         10  1,300 applied?

         11                 CAPT. RICHTER:  That is the general

         12  numbers, I can give you specific.  In the year 2001,

         13  1,347 persons applied for a rifle or shotgun permit.

         14    Year- to- date, in the year 2002, 562 individuals

         15  applied for rifle or shotgun permit.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  And how many

         17  were rejected in those years?

         18                 CAPT. RICHTER:  Generally the reject,

         19  the approval or the denial has a six- month lag time

         20  from the application.  But - -

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So 2000.

         22                 CAPT. RICHTER: - -  say for instance

         23  in the year 2001, 1,032 rifle/shotgun permits were

         24  issued.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  And what was
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          2  the amount of applications, I'm sorry?

          3                 CAPT. RICHTER:  One thousand three

          4  hundred and forty- seven.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  What are the

          6  most common reasons to deny a gun permit?

          7                 CAPT. RICHTER:  It's generally an

          8  arrest record.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:   Using an

         10  arrest record. I appreciate your time.  Thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 MR. PRASSO:  You're welcome.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         14  Council member.  And let me just clarify when you

         15  said about the duplicate part, in some respects it

         16  is.  However, under federal in New York City you

         17  cannot possess a handgun, but that technically does

         18  not stop you for applying for a license for a

         19  handgun, which is just a technical problem.  Also

         20  the Administrative Code references a serious

         21  offense, which is in the New York State Penal Law,

         22  and in addition to the Administrative Code, which we

         23  are discussing today, we have the Police Department

         24  regulations.  So what we are trying to do here is

         25  put, is let the public of New York City know by
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          2  looking at the Administrative Code of New York City,

          3  who can get a gun and who can't without going

          4  through every law which exists in the country.  So I

          5  think it does serve a purpose in that regard.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  No, I want to

          7  clarify my position then.  My position was not that

          8  it is duplicative, therefore, not necessary.  My

          9  questions to the police officers was, if really it's

         10  not damaging the way that they are now doing the

         11  applications, then I didn't see any harm in the City

         12  Council sending a clear message to the rest of the

         13  City that we are taking a very strong stance on gun

         14  control and that we think it is an important topic.

         15  So actually I was meaning just the opposite of that.

         16    But I didn't want to, really if there was such a

         17  system in place that was working, I wanted to know

         18  if it would harm the system so much.  But I think it

         19  is important to send a very clear message out there.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And that is

         21  exactly what I thought you were getting at.  And I

         22  would like to thank both you and the Police

         23  Department for your support in our resolution

         24  regarding the Brady Bill.  And I assume once we work

         25  with you on the initial resolution, we will be
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          2  getting your support on that too, and so we thank

          3  you for that.

          4                 And now I turn it over to, former

          5  police officer, James Davis.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you so

          7  much. Okay, a couple of good things.  First of all,

          8  I want to say that I am happy to have signed on to

          9  these resolutions, and I want to commend Council

         10  Member Yassky for taking a leadership role.  I want

         11  to thank Council Member Vallone, our Chair, for

         12  having this hearing.

         13                 And welcome.  Okay, I must admit I

         14  wasn't quite going in the direction I'm going to go

         15  in, but now that Councilwoman Katz opened the door,

         16  it is something that I would like to ask a couple of

         17  questions about.

         18                 She raised a question about sex,

         19  male, female, and I know you are not keeping a

         20  record, I heard you loud and clear.  Race, you said

         21  you are not keeping a record of the race.  But I am

         22  curious how many blacks apply as opposed to whites?

         23  I'm curious as to is there a higher approval rating

         24  in Manhattan as opposed to Brooklyn or Bronx or

         25  Queens or Staten Island, I would like to know, is
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          2  the applications, what is the ratio between the rich

          3  and the poor?  For example, a person who has a

          4  higher income who applies for a gun permit and

          5  persons with a lower- income applies for the same

          6  gun permit, but yet they fall within the criteria

          7  that you outlined.  So I know there is no official

          8  data, I know, I heard that part loud and clear.

          9  Okay, go ahead.

         10                 CAPT. RICHTER:  Income is not

         11  something that is recorded on the applications.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Okay, income

         13  is not, all right, so that is good.  So at a later

         14  date if there is some kind of way if we could find

         15  out some of that information as to, as Councilwoman

         16  Katz spoke about male and female, but I would like

         17  to take a look and see black, white, Hispanic, is

         18  there a black community applying, is the Hispanic

         19  community applying, is a white community applying,

         20  who exactly is applying for these guns in the

         21  majority?

         22                 MR. PRASSO:  I can tell you just from

         23  my informal observations of the people coming into

         24  our office to submit applications that we get people

         25  from all the different communities in the City.
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          2                 I just want to clarify something, we

          3  do keep track of the information in the sense that

          4  we do ask people to identify themselves and it is

          5  entered into the database, but we do not keep

          6  statistics on how many blacks, how many Hispanics,

          7  how many Asians, how many whites are applying.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Do you, I

          9  don't know if you understand where I'm coming from,

         10  I'm trying to find out, and I understand - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  James, before

         12  you asked your very provocative question, which

         13  closed the system down, I believe the microphone is

         14  yours.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you.

         16  And to the Crosswalks viewing audience, we are back.

         17    Okay, the question was just going to be, if there

         18  is, I'm just curious, maybe something that is worth

         19  taking a look at to see how many African- Americans,

         20  Hispanics, also take a look at the poor, you know,

         21  communities, put in for applications, are turned

         22  down, is there a fifty/fifty, and how whites, well

         23  to do whites put in same application and is not

         24  turned down.  I think it is worth taking a look at

         25  to see, to make sure, to make sure that our policy,
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          2  and our determinations are without any bias.  To

          3  make sure that it's fair, and that everyone who puts

          4  in the application, none of those other, not to say

          5  that you have done, but none of those other reasons

          6  come into play, race, sex, income, just to make sure

          7  that everyone is on the same playing field.  And I

          8  will, I mean, you can respond.

          9                 MR. PRASSO:  Well in response to

         10  that, we can most likely obtain the information

         11  about racial background, gender from our MIS people,

         12  we can ask them to query the database for us.  As

         13  Captain Richter stated, we don't track, we don't ask

         14  for income.  So I don't know it would be so easy to

         15  identify who is rich and who is poor using a

         16  computer search.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  You know, I

         18  just again, I just want to make sure the process,

         19  and everybody is included, and that is not to say

         20  the License Division, but that everyone is on the

         21  same par as far as being judged.

         22                 MR. PRASSO:  Well, Councilman, we do

         23  review the applications very carefully, and we know

         24  we are subject to court review, because people who

         25  are denied as a general rule will take the case to

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  court in an Article 78 in order to apply our

          3  decision and get it overturned.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Well just, and

          5  I was trying to let it go, but since you want to

          6  respond, I'm coming back.

          7                 MR. PRASSO:  Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  I was going to

          9  go onto my other, but you want it, so, some people

         10  don't.  I know a little something about Article 78s,

         11  I have participated in Article 78, I know about, I

         12  won an Article 78, with my job as far as NYPD, so I

         13  know a little something about Article 78s. Some

         14  people, if you say no, don't do the Article 78.

         15  Some people, you can say no, and they will say,

         16  okay, or they will go and complain.  Others will do

         17  the Article 78 and fight.

         18                 So I'm just, rather than stating what

         19  people do or don't, they have that option.  I know

         20  many cops who were failed out psychologically, yes,

         21  you can appeal a disqualification, but some don't

         22  appeal it and some do.  So we just want to make sure

         23  the process is fair for the people who don't know to

         24  appeal, or don't want to go through all of that.

         25  That is all, that is all.
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          2                 So we are not here today to, I'm very

          3  happy that you are here.  This is a chance to

          4  exchange; this City Council is committed to working

          5  with and not against.

          6                 You said that you take a look at

          7  people's psychiatric record, domestic violence and

          8  background checks. This is something that has always

          9  been on my heart, if I could ever push to make this

         10  happen, I will be so happy.  I was on CNN speaking

         11  about this, are there any, and I know you don't, but

         12  what is your opinion, do you give any psychological

         13  to individuals?  I know the answer, but I'm just

         14  going to ask it for the record.  Do you give any

         15  psychologicals (sic) to people who ask for gun

         16  permits?

         17                 MR. PRASSO:  Do we administer a test,

         18  is that the question?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Yes.

         20                 MR. PRASSO:  No, we don't.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  I know.

         22                 MR. PRASSO:  We ask them to disclose

         23  if they have a history of treatment for

         24  psychological or mental illnesses.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Right, and I
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          2  have - -

          3                 MR. PRASSO:  And we also ask the

          4  State, the person signs a release and we send a

          5  document requesting that they check their databases

          6  to see if the person has a history of being

          7  hospitalized.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  I want to make

          9  clear for the record that I have always felt,

         10  personally, as a retired police officer and so on

         11  and so forth, and as an anti- gun and anti- violence

         12  activist, there should be a psychological given, and

         13  this is not at you, this is bigger.  Because you

         14  give, you have got to give a test, just because a

         15  person may not have gone off the deep end, yet, or

         16  they haven't gone off the deep in their background,

         17  maybe there are some issues still there. Even that

         18  guy, McVeigh, who blew up the building in Oklahoma,

         19  clear, and he had been, what, honorable discharged

         20  out of the Army or the military.  Maybe if we can

         21  start giving psychologicals, maybe we can identify

         22  someone who has issues, though the method that we

         23  have in place may not have found or report that

         24  individual.  So some type of psychological, some

         25  type of written test, do we give a written test,
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          2  other than the application?

          3                 MR. PRASSO:  No, there is no written

          4  test.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  And last, but

          6  not least, for me today, at this time, I have always

          7  felt if you can give a written test for a person to

          8  get a license to drive a car, if you can give a

          9  written test to make sure that you know how to put a

         10  safety device on a gun, just to have you fill out

         11  that there is a booklet that you are given, that

         12  goes over particular safety mechanisms, some type of

         13  written test that I would like, that if this City

         14  Council if we could look into that area.

         15                 And I'm sorry, I have one other

         16  thought.  How many of these gun permits that are

         17  given to individuals, how many of these individuals

         18  that were given licenses, their guns are either

         19  reported stolen or their guns used in a crime, or a

         20  child, innocently was shot and killed by one of

         21  these persons that had a licensed that was issued by

         22  one of us, by NYPD?  Is there any way, it's a broad

         23  question.

         24                 CAPT. RICHTER:  I can get those

         25  specific stats to you at a later point.  Generally,
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          2  there is less than 100 a year of firearm discharges

          3  and reports of stolen handguns.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you so

          5  much Captain.  That is my point, less than 100, but

          6  one is too many.  And if we have, maybe this written

          7  test in place, and maybe if we had some

          8  psychological, if we take the same precautions that

          9  we do in giving somebody a driver's license, you

         10  know, you are given a driver's license, you are

         11  given a written test, you are given some things.

         12  Maybe we can, and this is not a knock at you, I

         13  think you are doing a wonderful job based on what

         14  you are working with.  But maybe, we in the City

         15  Council should try to push, not only in the City

         16  Council, but we in America should try to push for

         17  some type psychological, some type of written test

         18  that can ask questions, to say, okay, now you are

         19  given this gun, this rifle, what is a good place to

         20  secure this rifle in your house?  A) On top of the

         21  bed; b) In a locked, sealed component.  In some

         22  written type of test, maybe we can identify someone

         23  who cannot even get pass the written test, or cannot

         24  get to the license.

         25                 Again, I just want to thank you so
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          2  very much for coming.  I hope that my ideas, we can

          3  maybe build on it and work closely together, and

          4  that is what this Council is committed to, working

          5  with the Police Department.  Thank you so very much.

          6                 MR. PRASSO:  You're welcome.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

          8  Council Member Davis, and Council Member Yassky and

          9  I are very intrigued about the testing ideas, and

         10  it's maybe something we look into at a future

         11  hearing.  Thank you for suggesting that.

         12                 Council Member Katz was asking, in

         13  your testimony you said that there were 39,000

         14  active handgun licenses in New York City.  How many

         15  rifle permits that were licensed, and shotgun, I'm

         16  sorry?

         17                 CAPT. RICHTER:  We mentioned that

         18  there were 24,000, but to give you definitive

         19  numbers, 23,895.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Rifle/shotguns?

         21                 CAPT. RICHTER:  Rifle/shotgun

         22  permits.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So it out of

         24  those numbers, you assume that everyone has a

         25  license, has a gun, right?
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          2                 MR. PRASSO:  Well you need - -

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Those 39,000

          4  permits for handguns and 24,000 for rifle/shotguns,

          5  are you assuming that the number, that everyone has

          6  at least gun?

          7                 CAPT. RICHTER:  That is a

          8  requirement.  If you apply for a license - -

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  That is a

         10  requirement? You cannot have a permit without a gun?

         11                 CAPT. RICHTER:  If you apply for a

         12  license and get approved for a license, you then get

         13  a purchase order to place a firearm on it, which you

         14  would, and purchase one.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  I just cannot

         16  get a permit, because I want to have a permit to get

         17  a gun, and then get one at a later date?

         18                 MR. PRASSO:  No, the rules of the

         19  City of New York require you to purchase a gun, if

         20  you are approved for a license.  However, if you get

         21  rifle/shotgun permit, you are not required to

         22  purchase a rifle or a shotgun.  You can have the

         23  permit without a rifle or a shotgun.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So I'm assuming

         25  it's for hunting.  So I can get a permit for a
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          2  rifle/shotgun and use my friend's gun.  I'm just

          3  curious, actually, now I'm curious, but I cannot,

          4  for a handgun, if I do an application, it really is

          5  only for that gun.

          6                 MR. PRASSO:  Right.  When you say use

          7  your friend's gun, you mean a handgun, or a rifle or

          8  a shotgun?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Rifle, in other

         10  words, you are saying to me that in order to get a

         11  handgun or a pistol license in the City of New York,

         12  you basically are licensed to use that one

         13  particular gun.

         14                 MR. PRASSO:  Right, it's put - -

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Basically?

         16                 MR. PRASSO:  The license is recorded,

         17   - -

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Right.

         19                 MR. PRASSO:  The serial number of the

         20  gun is recorded on your license.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Right, it makes

         22  total sense to me.

         23                 MR. PRASSO:  And that is the only gun

         24  you are authorized to have.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  But that is not
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          2  the same for a rifle and a shotgun?

          3                 MR. PRASSO:  No, rifles and shotguns,

          4  we don't require you to buy a rifle or a shotgun.

          5  You can get the permit and not have one.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  But can you use

          7  someone else's?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  But, oh, the

          9  Chair is, but can you use someone else's?

         10                 MR. PRASSO:  Someone else's rifle?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Yes.

         12                 MR. PRASSO:  If you want to go

         13  hunting Upstate.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  I'm assuming

         15  that is what it is for.

         16                 MR. PRASSO:  New York City is the

         17  only jurisdiction that requires permits, so Upstate,

         18  as long as you are not a prohibited person under

         19  federal law, you can possess a firearm, a rifle or a

         20  shotgun, you can borrow somebody else's.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So the less

         22  than 100 firearms in the City of New York that were

         23  stolen, and/or went off accidentally by a child,

         24  would be out of that 63,000 number that you gave us

         25  of licenses in the City; is that right?
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          2                 MR. PRASSO:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Let me just

          5  divulge, in the interest of full disclosure that I

          6  am a rifle owner, and I was raked over the coals to

          7  get my license, so I can testify as to how rigorous

          8  the process is.

          9                 I know I'm a politician and a former

         10  attorney, so I immediately trigger the good, the

         11  moral character clause, but I can say that the

         12  process is rigorous, and I'm actually amazed that so

         13  many people, so few are turned down and so many, out

         14  of the amount who have applied.

         15                 Again, I don't see any more questions

         16  from my Council members.  I would like to reiterate

         17  what was said, we thank you for coming today.  We

         18  want to work with you to put a bill forward

         19  regarding who may have a gun, who may not, that you

         20  would fully support before we do it.  We thank you

         21  for your support on the Brady Bill, and Council

         22  Member Yassky and I will be working with you in the

         23  future regarding the gun trafficking situation that

         24  he has brought up, to get more information from you,

         25  potentially at another hearing.  And we commend the
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          2  work that you have done in this regard.  We have no

          3  complaints regarding, or I personally don't have any

          4  complaints regarding what you have been doing

          5  regarding gun applications.  Again, we would like to

          6  codify this to make it simpler for the people of New

          7  York City.

          8                 Thank you for your time, and we will

          9  see you soon.

         10                 The next panel will consist of Andy

         11  Pelosi from New Yorkers Against Gun Violence, and

         12  Marilyn Hoffman from the Manhattan Chapter of the

         13  Million Mile March.  Yes, Mr. Pelosi, you will go

         14  first, just because I happen to have your testimony

         15  in front of me.  But, I am, for the benefit of my

         16  Committee members who are worried, this is a very

         17  long statement, and I am informed that you will

         18  summarize it for us.  Thank you very much, go ahead.

         19                 MR. PELOSI:  Good morning, Chairman

         20  Vallone and members of the Public Safety Committee.

         21  Yes, I will summarize my testimony; I know that you

         22  have a busy schedule, so thank you, and we will be

         23  happy to answer questions at the end.  I just would

         24  like to first mention, to thank the Committee for

         25  this opportunity to appear before you on these
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          2  important issues.  I am joined by two Board members;

          3  on my left is Alfredo Valentine, whose son was

          4  killed by an illegal gun in 1994.  On my far right,

          5  I'm also joined by another Board member, Barbara

          6  Holt.  With your permission, at the end of my brief

          7  statement, if Mr. Valentine could make a very brief

          8  statement, I would appreciate your indulgence.

          9  Okay, thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Of course, yes.

         11                 MR. PELOSI:  My name is Andy Pelosi.

         12  I'm the Director of New Yorkers Against Gun

         13  Violence.  We are a statewide gun violence

         14  prevention organization founded in 1993.  We are

         15  here to support Resolutions 288 and 289, and Intros.

         16  208 and 211.

         17                 Specifically, you know, I think what

         18  the licensing officers mentioned and what the

         19  members of the Council also highlighted is that New

         20  York has have done a lot of good things.  New York

         21  State, New York City does have strong gun laws, and

         22  I think that is something we, you know, that we

         23  could never overlook.  New York City, I believe,

         24  back in the early nineties we had over 1,400 people

         25  killed by guns in New York City.  Right now, the
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          2  most recent figure for the year 2000, 532 people

          3  were killed by guns.  Still an extremely high

          4  number, but it does show you the progress that has

          5  happened over the years.  There is a number of

          6  reasons why this has happened, better policing

          7  policies on the part of NYPD, an improving economy,

          8  stronger gun laws, there are a lot of different

          9  things that come into play for that.  So I think

         10  those are some of the good things.  But there is

         11  still room for improvement.

         12                 And one of the first things I think

         13  we need to focus on is the resolution dealing with

         14  closing the gun show loophole.  New York State

         15  closed the loophole in 2000, and just basically,

         16  this loophole is allowing hobbyists, folks who own

         17  their own collection of guns to go to gun shows,

         18  sell them to folks without conducting a background

         19  check.  Now as I said, New York closed this

         20  loophole.

         21                 Most states across the country have

         22  not closed this loophole; at least 32 states have

         23  not closed it.  And, you know, why does this impact

         24  New York?  It impacts New York because the Bureau of

         25  Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms data shows that gun
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          2  shows are the second leading source of traffic

          3  weapons.  So, and how they again, further impacts

          4  New Yorkers that New York City guns that are traced

          5  in crime, now this is statistics from the ATF that

          6  were published in 2000, show that 80 percent of the

          7  crime guns that were found in New York City and

          8  traced came from out- of- state.  States, for the

          9  most part, with lax gun laws.  States like North

         10  Carolina, Ohio, Virginia, Georgia, these types of

         11  states.  And not coincidently, most of these states

         12  also have not closed the gun show loophole.

         13                 So we need federal action here.  Your

         14  hands are tied as far as what more you can do on

         15  this particular issue, the State has acted, so we

         16  support this resolution.  We believe that the Reed

         17  Bill, Senate 767 is the most effective way of

         18  closing this loophole, so we are in support of that.

         19                 The second issue is Resolution 289,

         20  and I think the Police Department made some

         21  excellent points.  I don't think there is really

         22  more to add, we do support the resolution.  NYPD

         23  seems to be very comprehensive in the way they check

         24  backgrounds, the different disqualifying factors.

         25  But there is one thing, I think, to point out, is
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          2  that we did a very quick review of newspapers over

          3  the last 12 or 13 months across New York State.  We

          4  looked at specifically, where orders of protection

          5  were violated.  And this is not a scientific study;

          6  this is just some anecdotal information. But we

          7  found 8 cases in the last 13 months where an order

          8  of protection had been violated, the abuser got

          9  access to a gun, some cases it was a long gun, some

         10  cases it was a handgun, and ended up killing either

         11  the spouse or girlfriend.  Eight cases just found in

         12  a newspaper search across the state.  And these are

         13  people that should have been, or prohibited from

         14  owning or possessing.  Now we do not know how they

         15  got access to these weapons, they may have borrowed

         16  it, they may have stolen, we don't know if they were

         17  a current valid permit holder.  But it still points

         18  out the serious issue.

         19                 And then yesterday, there was an

         20  article in the Washington Post, talking about how

         21  the Brady background check system, at least, 8,000

         22  people were, passed, went through that system, were

         23  not flagged and were able to obtain guns.  Three

         24  thousand of those people were domestic violence

         25  abusers, people that had restraining orders against
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          2  them, 3,000.

          3                 So what the FBI had to do was go back

          4  and retrieve those guns.  And 24 percent of the guns

          5  were possessed and owned by domestic violence

          6  abusers.  So it is a very serious problem, and I

          7  know it is not lost on you.

          8                 Now the New York City Family Court

          9  and Criminal Court Orders of Protection are

         10  computerized.  It's our understanding that criminal

         11  law protections outside of New York City are not

         12  computerized.  And that doesn't directly impact New

         13  York City, but it does highlight a problem where, if

         14  we don't have these records up- to- date, then when

         15  someone does go to purchase, the complete

         16  information that might disqualify someone is not

         17  going to be there.  So that is, you know, a serious

         18  issue, and I think that there are steps that can be

         19  taken.

         20                 Just one last point on this, we were

         21  talking about three misdemeanors.  You know, there

         22  is a study that was done by a doctor in the

         23  University of California, Garren Wintemute

         24  (phonetic) that looked at folks that had at least

         25  one prior misdemeanor and then went to subsequently
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          2  purchase, and then committed, you know, a second and

          3  third misdemeanor. And you know there is some very

          4  disturbing data, and I think that it is something

          5  that I did not bring with me, but if I am able to

          6  provide that to the Committee at a later date, I

          7  would like to do that, it is a very interesting

          8  study.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So would your

         10  opinion on that be three misdemeanors is too many,

         11  or do you have an opinion on it?

         12                 MR. PELOSI:  I think that, just from

         13  this one study and it does appear that it might be

         14  too many.  Although, you know, you do need to also

         15  look at the discretion of the licensing officer that

         16  is something that is in the law already.

         17                 Intro. 208, that deals with the Code

         18  of Conduct, this is, again, a bill that we support

         19  and we feel that it starts to take some of the

         20  necessary steps to really put the manufacturers and

         21  the wholesalers and the retailers on notice that you

         22  are partially responsible for the diversion of guns

         23  into the illegal market.  There are certain steps

         24  that you can be doing to decrease the availability

         25  of these guns. And fortunately, since we are a
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          2  nonprofit and not involved in a lawsuit, we can talk

          3  some specifics about this bill.

          4                 Senator Schumer did a report back in

          5  1999, called Bad Apples.  And he looked at, his

          6  staff had looked at data, raw data from the Bureau

          7  of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, and it found that

          8  1 percent, nationwide, 1 percent of the gun dealers

          9  were responsible for 50 percent of guns diverted to

         10  the illegal market.  In New York there were just

         11  under 3,000 gun dealers at the time, a 31 percent of

         12  the dealers were responsible for over half of the

         13  guns that were diverted to the market.  So there are

         14  definitely things that dealers can just be doing,

         15  that they are not doing.

         16                 This legislation, for example, 20

         17  guns, if a dealer or a wholesaler sells 20 guns

         18  within a five- year period and they are diverting to

         19  the illegal market, they would not be a contractor,

         20  for instance, that City agencies would be dealing

         21  with.  That is something that we think is a good

         22  idea.

         23                 Also, not selling to a gun dealer

         24  that participates at a gun show where background

         25  checks are failed to be conducted on all buyers.
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          2  That is another good component.

          3                 HEF also talks about indicators of

          4  trafficking, and one of the things they say that if

          5  multiple guns are sold to an individual in a short

          6  period of time, that could be an indicator that guns

          7  are being trafficked.  This bill also really

          8  addresses and likes to limit one gun to an

          9  individual within a 30- day period.  Again, another

         10  good measure.

         11                 There was some brief mention before

         12  about stolen guns.  And I think that nationally,

         13  it's a very big problem, stolen guns and how they

         14  get diverted to the illegal market.  Again, this

         15  legislation addresses that issue and it really puts

         16  the onerous on dealers to take safety precautions

         17  when guns are in transport.  Another good provision,

         18  because we want to limit the number of guns that are

         19  stolen in transit.

         20                 Those are, you know, those are the

         21  real strong points in the legislation.  And another,

         22  I think, good component is really the exemption for

         23  law enforcement.  If law enforcement is not in a

         24  position, they feel that they cannot get their

         25  weapons from say a contractor that the City says,
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          2  all right, we are not going to do business with, but

          3  they need a particular weapon and that is the only

          4  manufacturer, they still have that ability to obtain

          5  those weapons.  So I think that is another important

          6  point.

          7                 We also, again, are in support of

          8  Intro. 211, and basically, for the same reasons.

          9  You know the domestic violence issue and guns is a

         10  tremendously, you know, important issue.  Really on

         11  the State level right now, there is legislation that

         12  is trying to tighten up those restrictions, making

         13  it easier to take guns away from domestic violence

         14  abusers.  So I would just point out that, although,

         15  NYPD does a more exhaustive search when it comes to

         16  long guns and handguns, the same thing does not

         17  happen outside of New York City when it comes to

         18  long guns.  You just run through a quick background

         19  check, and that is it.  So I think that, I'm hoping

         20  that there might be someone from the domestic

         21  violence community here today to maybe fully more

         22  address that.

         23                 But I thank the Committee to address

         24  you.  If you have any questions, I would be happy to

         25  answer them.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Why don't we

          3  listen to that one additional statement, and then we

          4  will ask some questions.

          5                 MR. PELOSI:  Okay.

          6                 MR. VALENTINE:  My name is Bill

          7  Alfredo Valentine.  I'm here today because on August

          8  the 8th, 1994, my son, Derrick Paul Valentine and

          9  his best friend, Heath Christopher Sherman, was shot

         10  and killed on the corner of Allentown Avenue and

         11  Barnes in the Bronx.

         12                 My son's killer was a teenager who

         13  was able to buy a gun for $50, a Saturday night's

         14  special.  While I find him to be guilty of my son's

         15  murder, I also find the gun industry just as guilty

         16  by the way that they market their product.  I feel

         17  that if the gun industry had been more responsible,

         18  my son would be here today.

         19                 And what we do here today may help

         20  ensure that your sons will be here tomorrow.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you, Mr.

         23  Valentine. And you can be assured that is why we are

         24  all here today, to take whatever steps necessary to

         25  make sure that type of tragedy never occurs again.
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          2                 Thank you for testifying, all of you.

          3    I have a quick question, oh, I'm sorry, you know

          4  what, Ms. Hoffman, why don't we have you finish you

          5  testimony first, and then we will go to questions.

          6                 MS. HOFFMAN:  I would like to take

          7  this opportunity to thank Chairman Vallone and the

          8  members of the Public Safety Committee for giving me

          9  the opportunity to testify today.  My name is

         10  Marilyn Hoffman, and I am here on behalf of the

         11  Manhattan Chapter of the Million Mile March now

         12  united with the Brady Campaign.  We are in support

         13  of Resolution No. 288 calling on the Congress to

         14  pass S.767 and H.R. 4034, which would close a

         15  dangerous loophole by requiring background checks on

         16  all gun purchases at gun shows.

         17                 We feel this legislation is necessary

         18  in order to stem the tide of guns being used in New

         19  York City by cutting off a key source of supply.

         20  Now you might ask, "Hasn't New York already closed

         21  the gun show loophole?"  The answer happily is yes,

         22  in 2000.  However that only applies to gun shows in

         23  New York.  New Yorkers are still menaced by guns

         24  sold through this loophole in other states.  About

         25  80 percent of guns used in New York crimes were
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          2  first sold in other states, particularly southern

          3  states with lax gun laws.  Only about 20 percent of

          4  all traceable crime guns were purchased at federally

          5  licensed dealers in New York.

          6                 How did this happen?  You might also

          7  ask.  It happened because successive gun lawsuit

          8  passed in previous years did not address the full

          9  scope of the problem of arms distribution.  The

         10  Brady Law, finally passed in 1994, established a

         11  background check system, but this applies only to

         12  federally licensed gun dealers and not to others who

         13  sell at gun shows.  This means that felons,

         14  fugitives, people under domestic violence

         15  restraining orders and the mentally ill can bypass a

         16  background check and obtain a gun.

         17                 The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and

         18  Firearms estimates that between 2,000 and 5,000 gun

         19  shows are held annually in this country.  The State

         20  of Texas hosts 472 all by itself.  ATF estimates

         21  that about 10 percent of the guns used by juveniles

         22  and children were sold at gun shows and fleas

         23  markets.  I remind you that the 17- year- old boys

         24  responsible for the deadliest school shooting in the

         25  he United States, in Colorado, obtained their
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          2  shotguns, assault rifle and assault pistol from a

          3  friend who purchased them at a gun show.  Felons

          4  buying or selling firearms were involved in more

          5  than 46 percent of the ATF investigations involving

          6  gun shows.  In more than a third of these

          7  investigations, the firearms were known to have been

          8  involved in subsequent crimes.

          9                 By calling upon Congress to pass

         10  these bills, we can significantly eliminate the

         11  disaster of illegally obtained weapons that

         12  proliferate on our streets.  We will improve our

         13  ability to enforced existing gun laws by bringing

         14  every transaction into the regulated system, and we

         15  will make gun owners more accountable by making

         16  their sales visible to authorities.

         17                 Statistics in prior years tell us

         18  that every year guns kill 9 children every day, more

         19  that 500 a year in New York City, and about 30,000

         20  or so nationwide.  These statistics do not address

         21  the current terrorist threat to our city and to our

         22  nation.  Not only can ordinary criminals available

         23  themselves of the gun show loophole, but now we also

         24  have to consider the real possibility that

         25  terrorists are buying arms for use either here or
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          2  exported abroad for equally violent and detestable

          3  purposes.  Documents found in Afghanistan, such as,

          4  How can I train myself for Jihad?, show that in fact

          5  terrorist groups know us in international circles as

          6  a chief provider of small arms.

          7                 Gun shows are a breeding ground for

          8  sales to terrorists due to the possibility of sale

          9  without background checks.  It is in the interest of

         10  homeland security, then we must also recognize the

         11  dangers of the gun show loophole and attempt to

         12  address them.

         13                 I thank you very much for this

         14  opportunity to talk today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you, Ms.

         16  Hoffman. And as you may know, this Committee also

         17  has jurisdiction over the Police Department's Anti-

         18  terrorism efforts, so I thank you for bringing that

         19  up.  Thank you all for testifying.

         20                 My quick question is, before I turn

         21  it over. First, let me acknowledge the presence of

         22  another Public Safety Committee member and former

         23  police officer, Hiram Monserrate from Queens.

         24                 The question is, you are supporting

         25  these resolutions and intros., and we thank you for
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          2  that.  Do you have any recommendations as to how we

          3  can improve them or change them in any way?  Anybody

          4  at the table.

          5                 MS. HOFFMAN:  I think, actually in

          6  reviewing these, the proposals, we feel that it

          7  adequately represents our position, and we are very

          8  happy with it, the way that it stands right now.

          9                 MR. PELOSI:  I think that the

         10  resolutions are, you know, as soon as you can get

         11  those done, I think that is terrific.

         12                 What I would like to see some more

         13  information on, and I do not know if it is directly

         14  related, is, the number of guns that are being

         15  recovered in crime by NYPD, that type of data.  Is

         16  that something that the public is going to get

         17  access to?  I think that would be very interesting

         18  to see, and that is a little bit more than what we

         19  are talking about today.  But that is something that

         20  perhaps the Council could address at a later date.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.  To

         22  the extent that you are happy with the bill, I would

         23  like to thank the Counsel to this Committee, sitting

         24  next to me, Ted Becker, who had the assistance of

         25  David Yassky in drawing up these bills.
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          2                 Seeing that there are no questions

          3  from Council members, - -  Oh, you have one, I'm

          4  sorry, let me recognize Council Member Yassky.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes, I also

          6  would just like to publicly thank Ted Becker for his

          7  work.  These were, they are introduced under my

          8  name, but Mr. Becker did the real difficult work of

          9  trying to get them hammered out on paper, along with

         10  Katie Smith of my staff.  So I just want to thank

         11  them.

         12                 But my question for you is, I see

         13  from your testimony, the written part that you did

         14  not summarize, that you left out in your summary.

         15  The gun used in the Martin Luther King High School

         16  shooting was sold by a Connecticut gun dealer that

         17  sold, if I read this correctly, 1,033 crime guns.

         18  How is that possible?  I mean that is astonishing.

         19                 MR. PELOSI:  It is astonishing,

         20  Councilman Yassky.  This is, that number is derived

         21  from a New York Times news article that ran a few

         22  days after that shooting.  So I would have to rely

         23  on the reporter for that number.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Is there

         25  anything, do you know anything more about the path
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          2  of the gun, how that firearm got from that, either

          3  knowingly criminal or unknowingly irresponsible

          4  dealer into the hands of the child or youth who used

          5  it to shoot somebody?

          6                 MR. PELOSI:  I do not know.  I think,

          7  I mean that is a good question.  We focus, it seems,

          8  a lot of times on the person doing the shooting, but

          9  not really looking at, okay, where did the person,

         10  in this case, the 17- year- old, the alleged shooter

         11  get this weapon?  And if he bought that weapon on

         12  the street, where did that person, you know, get

         13  that gun? And I don't know how many years that gun

         14  that was used was out there in the stream of

         15  commerce.  But this was a Connecticut dealer, yes,

         16  that, you know, did sell over 1,000 guns.

         17                 Council Member Yassky:  Let me ask

         18  you this, law enforcement apprehends and either

         19  detains or puts into detention or in jail or prison

         20  the youth who shot the kid, who did the shooting at

         21  Martin Luther King High School.  Then there is also

         22  the gun dealer or the gun trafficker who was using

         23  this gun dealer.  Which do you think would make New

         24  Yorkers safer, or are they both equally important in

         25  terms of making New Yorkers safe, arresting the
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          2  youth who shot the kid, or arresting the gun

          3  trafficker who brought maybe 1,000 guns into New

          4  York City?

          5                 MR. PELOSI:  Well I don't want to

          6  make it an either/or, but I think that there

          7  definitely has to be greater attention focused on

          8  going after the gun traffickers, because, you know,

          9  really their actions are having disastrous impact on

         10  many, many different people.  And I think, you know,

         11  you had mentioned, I believe, that there 60

         12  convictions for gun trafficking in the year 2000, I

         13  believe you had said.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes.

         15                 MR. PELOSI:  And I do know going that

         16  back on the State level in 1997, 1998, you were

         17  seeing numbers actually a little bit lower than that

         18  for prosecutions of gun traffickers.  So I think

         19  that we need to have a better focus, a more

         20  concerted effort to go after traffickers.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.

         22  Mr. Valentine, I just want to say, I just admirer

         23  enormously your courage and your heroism in not

         24  taking your tragedy and not saying, well, that is

         25  all there is, that is all we can do with it.  But
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          2  trying to, from that make the City a safer place for

          3  everybody.  I think you are to be enormously admired

          4  for that. Thank you very much.

          5                 MR. VALENTINE:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

          7  Council Member Yassky.  And thank you, the three of

          8  you for coming down today, and we look forward to

          9  working with you in the future.

         10                 MR. PELOSI:  Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  The next panel

         12  consists of Patrick Brophy from the New York State

         13  Rifle and Pistol Association, and Lawrence Keane

         14  from the National Shooting Sports Foundation.

         15                 While they are taking the stand, I

         16  should mention that the NRA will not be appearing,

         17  but did send a Memorandum opposing our resolutions.

         18  However, there main opposition seems to be towards

         19  the fact that this takes away police discretion for

         20  an unspecified period of time, which is the same

         21  matter we did discuss with the Police Department.

         22  So that is part of the record.

         23                 Please, identify yourself?

         24                 MR. BROPHY:  Good morning.  My name

         25  is Patrick Brophy.  I am the Director of the New

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  York State Rifle and Pistol Association.  And a

          3  moment ago you mentioned, Larry Keane from the

          4  National Shooting Sports Foundation, he was here

          5  this morning, he has elected to rest on the written

          6  testimony that he has submitted.  So I will be the

          7  only presenter.

          8                 I'm pleased to testify today on

          9  behalf of the New York State Rifle and Pistol

         10  Association, which is the New York State affiliate

         11  of the National Rifle Association of America.  Both

         12  organizations founded in 1871.

         13                 The Association opposes all of the

         14  introduced bills and resolutions that are on today's

         15  agenda.  And with respect to Intro. Bill 211 and

         16  Resolution 289, the following will set forth the

         17  essence of our opposition.

         18                 Intro. Bill 211 proposes to add to

         19  the Administrative Code specific enumerated personal

         20  background issues that would disqualify a New York

         21  City resident from obtaining or keeping a

         22  rifle/shotgun permit in the City.  It would

         23  disqualify anyone who has every been any where

         24  domestically or foreign, convicted of or pled guilty

         25  to, which is the same thing, any of the offenses
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          2  described in Penal Law section 265.0017, any one

          3  misdemeanor assault, or any three misdemeanors of

          4  any kind whatsoever, and also anyone who is a

          5  subject of a restraining order.

          6                 Resolution 289 urges the State

          7  Legislature to insert substantially conforming

          8  language into Penal Law 400 with respect to handgun

          9  licensing.

         10                 As set forth in this written

         11  testimony, in footnote 1, Penal Law section 265.0017

         12  recites a laundry list of offenses, some of which

         13  may have predictive value for future violent crime,

         14  most of which are already felonies, and many of

         15  which don't have such predictive value.  That Penal

         16  Law section includes a variety of felonies, but also

         17  such dubiously civil but nonviolent and/or

         18  consensual matters such as buying or receiving

         19  stolen property, under which I think, would qualify

         20  anyone who has ever used Napster (phonetic).

         21  Illegally carrying or possessing a pistol or rather

         22  dangerous weapon, which unfortunately, doubtlessly

         23  encompasses thousands in the roughest neighborhoods

         24  of the City, who have nothing in mind other than

         25  honest self- defense.  Unlawful entry of a building,
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          2  which would involve thousands of civil rights and

          3  Vietnam War protesters at American colleges and

          4  universities over the years.  That kind of sodomy

          5  which was designated as a misdemeanor under the pre-

          6  1967 Penal Law, which would include in most forms of

          7  consensual homosexual intimacy and other politically

          8  unapproved sexual behavior at some point in the

          9  past, any conduct that was described under the same

         10  former Penal Law as constituting a narcotic

         11  depressant or stimulant drug- related misdemeanor,

         12  such as those peaceful herb merchants of Washington

         13  Square Park and their peaceful customers.  Loitering

         14  as defined in Penal Law section 240.35, including

         15  for such purposes as begging or selling merchandise

         16  or playing or singing music in a transportation

         17  facility.

         18                 One misdemeanor assault record,

         19  especially one to which a person pled guilty because

         20  that was more affordable than fighting an unjust

         21  charge or trying to prove justification or self-

         22  defense, or one that occurred substantially in a

         23  person's past, as Director Prasso had discussed in

         24  his testimony, and not repeated, has no fair

         25  predictive value for a future violent crime.
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          2                 In addition a person could have mass

          3  three misdemeanors over the course of a lifetime by

          4  virtue of being a civil rights activist,

          5  trespassing, or being too often unable to make ends

          6  meet, writing bad checks, it happens, or any other

          7  number of imaginable ways, all of which have not

          8  predictive value for future violence.

          9                 The proposed legislation fails to

         10  make any effort, whatsoever, to distinguish between

         11  misdemeanors that may, by virtue of their violent

         12  nature, and there are few, since most violent crimes

         13  are felonies, be a predictive value, and those that

         14  surely are not.  The proposed legislation fails to

         15  account for the distinctly strong likelihood that a

         16  person with a clean record for a substantial period

         17  of time has learned from past mistakes and can be

         18  trusted not to repeat them.

         19                 As for restraining orders, any

         20  Assistant District Attorney in this City might tell

         21  you that where assault in the third degree is

         22  concerned and that is a misdemeanor, Class A,

         23  perhaps the most fruitions distinguishing feature

         24  between the victim and the person labeled a

         25  perpetrator is who won the race to the percent.
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          2  Orders of Protection are given out in arraignment of

          3  parts of New York City's Criminal Courts like

          4  lollipops to children at the dentist office, and in

          5  the post- law indictment era, most judges are

          6  apparently airing on side of universal prophylactic

          7  prior restraints, and perhaps, maybe attending to

          8  the maintenance of the appearance of actually

          9  hearing arguments on the merits of whether a

         10  restraining order should issue.

         11                 I will note before I proceed, that as

         12  we discuss these issues, Im not going to address

         13  myself to any part of this proposed legislation that

         14  mirrors existing federal law.  This is really no

         15  practical point in doing so.

         16                 Mr. Chairman, in May of 2001, then

         17  New York City Councilman Adolfo Carrion, Jr., State

         18  Assemblyman Jose Rivera, and then Bronx Democratic

         19  County Leader and former State Legislator, Roberta

         20  Ramirez was each convicted of misdemeanor trespass

         21  charges in Puerto Rico in a conscientious act of

         22  civil disobedience and sentenced to 40 days

         23  imprisonment.  The Reverend Al Sharpton was likewise

         24  convicted and sentenced to 90 days imprisonment, as

         25  this was not his first misdemeanor conviction.  At
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          2  the time, then Speaker of this Council, Peter

          3  Vallone, Sr., reportedly said, and I quoted, "All

          4  civil rights leaders understand that they have to

          5  pay the penalty in the event that they exercise

          6  their civil rights, but this is too severe a

          7  penalty."

          8                 Speaker Vallone was surely correct

          9  about this much.  In our pursuit of better

         10  governance and criminal justice we cannot lose sight

         11  of proportionality.  The present proposals do just

         12  that, and worse, they lose sight of individual

         13  liberty and accountability.

         14                 Councilman Yassky's proposals reflect

         15  a dangerous, fashionable trend in late modern

         16  liberalism to control other people by regulating the

         17  rights of large groups of people based on

         18  generalized behavioral predictions.  This approach

         19  has been called the epidemiological method as it

         20  remarkably purports to apply insights from the

         21  struggle to conquer biological infectious disease to

         22  the goal of reducing criminal misuse of firearms.

         23                 In this case, the Councilman and the

         24  present co- sponsors of this legislation propose to

         25  strip a large group of people of their rights based
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          2  solely upon their inclusion in a population of

          3  persons with one or more misdemeanors and their

          4  backgrounds.  Epidemiologically speaking, this is an

          5  analogous to Fidel Castro attempting to diminish the

          6  incidence of HIV and AIDS in Cuba by medically

          7  screening the population and then subjecting the HIV

          8  positive population to quarantine, which was a

          9  subject of an article in the New England Journal of

         10  Medicine in 1989.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Let me just

         12  interrupt very quickly to say that you are going to

         13  be going way over your limit, but I'm going to allow

         14  that because the other person in the panel has

         15  decided to rest on his record - -

         16                 MR. BROPHY:  I appreciate that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And I find this

         18  very interesting, but I am going to let you go and

         19  read your entire statement, which normally does not

         20  happen.

         21                 MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, Mr. Speaker.

         22  Epidemiologically - -

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And because you

         24  called me Speaker, you can go on for as long as you

         25  want.
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          2                 MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Chairman.

          3  Epidemiologically enamored gun control advocates

          4  ignore the obvious fact that criminal conduct is not

          5  a bacterial or viral infection and should not be

          6  treated as such.  Swift and certain adverse

          7  consequences to bad acts, rather than far- flung

          8  deprivation of individual freedom are the best

          9  deterrent to antisocial behavior.  The less obvious

         10  fact that gun control advocates ignore after the

         11  fashion of our enlightened comrade Castro, is that

         12  in this great American Republic we should be moving

         13  away from managing people's rights based on group

         14  status, rather than toward embracing such thinking

         15  once again.

         16                 There is no statistically sound,

         17  valid study suggesting that persons with one

         18  misdemeanor assault conviction at any point in their

         19  personal history or any three misdemeanor

         20  convictions at any time of any kind are likely to

         21  commit firearms crimes of any type.

         22                 I'm familiar with the study by Garren

         23  Wintemute, I did happen to bring a copy of that with

         24  me, it's in my bag, and I'm more than happy,

         25  although, I paid $9.00 to get it, to leave it with
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          2  you.  That study can fairly be viewed as supporting

          3  the intuitive proposition that violent behavior is

          4  generally predictive of future violent behavior.

          5  But it cannot honestly be advanced in support of the

          6  proposition that a single misdemeanor of violent

          7  history has any meaningful predictive value over

          8  time, or that a history of various nonviolent

          9  misdemeanors has any such future predictive value at

         10  all.  Among the studies known flaws, most of which

         11  were acknowledged by its authors, are that an

         12  excluded persons over the age 34 at the time of

         13  actual or attempted handgun purchase between 1989

         14  and 1991, the period of the study.  It excluded

         15  persons whose misdemeanor histories were over 10

         16  years old, which is what Director Prasso would have

         17  done.  Its sample size was acknowledged by the

         18  authors to be unreliably small in absolute numbers.

         19  It study interval necessarily straddled a point in

         20  time when California law has changed in a way that

         21  probably created an incentive for people to try to

         22  get a license while they still could, much as credit

         23  card bankruptcy, driven bankruptcy applications

         24  spiked the last year in anticipation of changes of

         25  that law.
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          2                 And in addition, the authors

          3  acknowledged that the California crime data that

          4  they relied on lacked specificity upon which to base

          5  reliable distinctions between crimes involving guns,

          6  violence, both or neither.

          7                 And lastly, in its commentary, it

          8  mistakenly assumed that lawful retail outlets were

          9  both a significant and irreplaceable source of

         10  firearms for those with violent, criminal intent.

         11  Neither is the case, and I refer to the latest US

         12  Department of Justice Bureau of Justice statistics,

         13  November 2001 Survey of inmates in state and federal

         14  correction facilities, which I have also brought a

         15  copy of, if anyone would like me to leave that

         16  behind.

         17                 I'm disappointed that Council Member

         18  James is no longer with us, because he seemed

         19  genuinely interested in issues of disparate impact.

         20  There are interesting and frightening implications

         21  for disparate impact upon individual liberty and

         22  self- defense rights that the proposed legislation

         23  would have, and I ask you to consider some

         24  interesting statistics, and I don't offer these even

         25  in the fashion of Samuel Johnson's modest proposal,
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          2  but to consider the dangers of epidemiological

          3  methods gone too far.

          4                 According to the United States

          5  Department of Justice, homicide trends in the US,

          6  January 2001, the overall rate of homicide offenders

          7  per 100,000 US population of white persons is 5.1.

          8  The overall rate of homicide offenders for US

          9  population 100,000 black persons is 32.4.  According

         10  to statistics compiled by Professor Joseph Olson of

         11  Hamline University Law School in Minnesota, the

         12  overall level of total homicides per rate per

         13  100,000 persons in counties in the United States won

         14  by George Bush on November 7, 200, is 2.1, and the

         15  total rate of homicides in US counties won by Al

         16  Gore on November 7th of 2000 is 13.2, over six times

         17  as many.

         18                 Any committed utilitarian

         19  epidemiologist would have to give serious

         20  consideration to legally disarming Gore voters and

         21  Black Americans.  Even scholars who are inclined to

         22  view uncritically the epidemiological approach to

         23  criminal firearms misuse acknowledge that such

         24  demographic factors massively outweigh a personal

         25  misdemeanor history as a predictive factor for
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          2  future armed criminally conduct, and I particularly

          3  refer to Professor Sherman's article, Reducing Gun

          4  Violence in volume I of the 2001 Criminal Justice.

          5                 I trust that everyone hearing and

          6  reading this testimony understands the utter

          7  revulsion with which I and the New York State Rifle

          8  and Pistol Association would hold any such racially

          9  driven efforts at gun control.  We urge that this

         10  Committee and this Council turn away from the sort

         11  of over- rationalized social engineering experiments

         12  that the proposed legislation represents, and

         13  instead turn to solutions that maximize individuals

         14  liberty while holding individuals accountable for

         15  actual criminally violence.

         16                 Turning to Intro. Bill 208, the

         17  Association also opposes this bill.  We are proud of

         18  our longstanding support for and from the men and

         19  women of law enforcement in New York.  We are proud

         20  to have annually recognized excellence in law

         21  enforcement at our annual meetings.  We were proud

         22  to have one of our honorees this year be a New York

         23  City Police Detective, Stephen Albanese, who has

         24  done creative and energetic work in improving

         25  firearms training for NYPD officers.
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          2                 We are proud, as well, of our

          3  association with the National Rifle Association and

          4  its programs, which are more fully set forth in our

          5  written testimony, including benefits for NRA

          6  members who are police officers in the event of loss

          7  of life on the job, and also for the benefit of

          8  their children attending college.

          9                 The Association opposes Intro. Bill

         10  208, quite simply, political considerations have no

         11  place in the procurement process for life- saving

         12  tools, whether those tools are firearms,

         13  firefighter's gear, or anything that an emergency

         14  responder would call upon to protect life and

         15  health.

         16                 New Jersey made the mistake of

         17  allowing political considerations to enter its State

         18  police firearms procurement process.  Pistols that

         19  the politicians chose for their agency demonstrated

         20  about a 10 percent malfunction rate during training,

         21  and hundreds of them had to be replaced by ones made

         22  by an outstanding manufacturer that abides by all

         23  federal, state and local rules, but would not meet

         24  the proposed legislation's definition of

         25  responsible.  In fact, today, there is not a
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          2  manufacturer in the world that would.

          3                 In addition, the operating conditions

          4  that the proposed legislation seeks to imposed on

          5  federally licensed retail merchants in order for

          6  them to be considered responsible and also their

          7  suppliers, manufacturers, importers, are

          8  unconstitutional, unsound, unworkable, and/or

          9  redundant.  No one says who is going to tell the

         10  dealers that the ATF traced any number of firearms

         11  back to them.  Less than one of out seven ATF traces

         12  actually relates a violent crime. New York State, as

         13  we have heard more than once today, has already

         14  required background checks at all gun show sales,

         15  whether by private sellers or by federally licensed

         16  dealers. And the licensed dealers, of course, are

         17  required to do that no matter where they do

         18  business, in their storefronts, or at gun shows, in

         19  whatever state they do business.

         20                 We respectfully urge the Council to

         21  keep politics out of the procurement process for law

         22  enforcement. And we further respectfully urge the

         23  Council to respect rather than attempt to arm-

         24  twist, the majority of states whose citizens enjoy

         25  greater personal safety from crime than do New
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          2  Yorkers, because their lawmakers recognize that

          3  serious tools of deterrence in the he hands of

          4  responsible citizens deter crime and save lives.

          5                 Finally, the Association opposes

          6  Resolution 288.  The Resolution urges the Congress

          7  to pass legislation to close the gun show loophole,

          8  as it regularly called by those who support further

          9  and further restrictions on the private possession

         10  of firearms.

         11                 The infamous bogeyman known as the

         12  gun show loophole is frankly a lie.  There is not

         13  much more a finesse way to put it.  It was

         14  manufactured by Handgun Control Incorporated, now

         15  known as the Brady Campaign to Prevent Gun Violence,

         16  and propagated with tart slogans, like, you friendly

         17  unregulated arms bazaar, which you can find on the

         18  Brady Campaign's own website.  I believe it was the

         19  Violence Policy Center that came up with Tupperware

         20  Parties for Criminals.

         21                 The gun show loophole actually

         22  constitutes two related lies, and the first is that

         23  firearms sales at such events are unregulated; and

         24  the second verbal slight- of- hand is that federal

         25  firearms licensees make up of only 50 to 75 percent
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          2  of the vendors at most gun shows.  Whereas it is

          3  otherwise, conversely, that 25 to 50 percent of

          4  dealers at gun shows are unlicensed.  The facts are

          5  different.  Federally licensed dealers are the

          6  overwhelming majority of sellers at gun shows.  They

          7  are stringently regulated in their sales at gun

          8  shows as they are in their own stores.  And the only

          9  way that Handgun Control Incorporated and others,

         10  including the Clinton era, Alcohol, Tobacco and

         11  Firearms Agency, which first created the statistic,

         12  can arrive at the 25 to 50 percent of vendors at gun

         13  shows being unlicensed is to count as unlicensed

         14  vendors those who are selling only books, food,

         15  clothing, et cetera, but not firearms.  And no one

         16  needs a license to sell books, clothing or food.

         17                 The federal government has no

         18  constitutional authority to infringe on the freedom

         19  of intrastate commerce, commerce solely within a

         20  state that does not effect interstate commerce,

         21  which is what the very small number of truly private

         22  sales at gun shows are.  In 1998, according to the

         23  United States Department of Justice's best and

         24  latest research on the subject, again, I have a copy

         25  of that handy, if anyone would like me to leave it
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          2  behind, only 0.7 percent of inmates in state prisons

          3  for gun crimes got their guns at gun shows. That is

          4  some arms bazaar.

          5                 In conclusion, the New York State

          6  Rifle and Pistol Association respectfully opposes

          7  the Intros. Bills and Resolutions on today's agenda.

          8    I appreciate the opportunity to testify, and would

          9  gladly answer any questions to the best of my

         10  ability.

         11                 Also, Council Member Yassky, I would

         12  like to extend the personal regards of Timothy

         13  Gallagher.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

         15  Council Member Katz has to leave.  But let me first,

         16  I don't know if I understood you correctly, but if I

         17  did, let me first repudiate your complete racial

         18  analysis here, which I believe you are attempting to

         19  say that blacks and people that are in counties won

         20  by Al Gore would be more affected by this.  The only

         21  people affected by this bill are ones who have three

         22  misdemeanor convictions, and I totally reject that

         23  racial argument.  But before I go further into that,

         24  let me recognize Melinda Katz, who does have another

         25  hearing to go to.
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          2                 MR. BROPHY:  By the way, I made no

          3  implication regarding who would be affected by the

          4  bill.  What I was attempting to do was to

          5  demonstrate how statistically driven predictive

          6  factors that have been cited by persons who are

          7  support of gun control, including Professor Sherman,

          8  have acknowledged that there are serious issues with

          9  demographics in terms of predicting what persons in

         10  the population are most likely to be either affected

         11  by a victimized by or perpetrators of gun violence.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Which is why we

         13  are not doing a demographic bill, we are doing a

         14  three- misdemeanor bill.  But let me recognize

         15  Melinda Katz.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  I think that

         17  after I leave that subject will probably be

         18  continued.

         19                 Mr. Brophy, let me just say this, as

         20  a Professor of Constitutional Law, myself, I find

         21  your testimony very interesting.  And I think if you

         22  and I go out one night and hang out and have dinner

         23  and drinks, perhaps, we could really into a good

         24  debate on this.  But - -

         25                 MR. BROPHY:  I would be delighted.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Huh?

          3                 MR. BROPHY:  I would be delighted.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Having said,

          5  I'm not sure that either one of us would benefit

          6  from that.  But having said that, I'm actually just

          7  curious, do you, yourself, find any portion of the

          8  restrictions on handguns, rifles, shotguns,

          9  constitutional?

         10                 MR. BROPHY:  The present licensing

         11  regimes in the State and City of New York?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Well let's

         13  start with, since I like this litigation stuff, do

         14  you find any laws constitutional to restrict

         15  firearms?

         16                 MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Okay.  Do you

         18  find the laws that the federal government have right

         19  now, constitutional?

         20                 MR. BROPHY:  Some of them yes, and

         21  some of them, if I have the time to prepare to

         22  discuss them in more detail, probably not.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So you really

         24  are just picking out, so you really don't have this

         25  view that every, the Second Amendment, The Right to
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          2  Bear Arms, should not be restricted.  You just

          3  really have the issues with these particular

          4  amendments to the laws?

          5                 MR. BROPHY:  The Second Amendment has

          6  it boundaries as the First Amendment does.  Those

          7  boundaries can be transgressed or they can be

          8  properly administered.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  The laws that

         10  we have now in the City and the State, do you think

         11  that they are constitutional?

         12                 MR. BROPHY:  It is my personal belief

         13  that as they are implemented, and there was an

         14  excellent article by Susan Novak in a Fordham Urban

         15  Law Journal several years ago, that as administered

         16  the New York State Penal Law is unconstitutional.

         17  For example, if you lived in Monroe County, which

         18  encompasses all of the City of Rochester, if you

         19  apply for a license to carry a pistol concealed

         20  provided that you don't have a disqualifying

         21  background under federal law, you will get a license

         22  to carry a concealed pistol.  The same would obtain

         23  in Franklin County or a number of other counties. If

         24  you made the same application in Rensselaer County,

         25  you would have as six month probationary period
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          2  after which having demonstrated in that time your

          3  responsibility, you can apply to have the

          4  restrictions of recreational use only removed from

          5  your license after which you could carried it

          6  concealed.

          7                 There is little other than sheer size

          8  and better museums to distinguish the City of New

          9  York from Rochester.  But its citizens are treated

         10  differently than New York's, and they don't seem to

         11  be experiencing any adverse violent, criminal

         12  consequences as a result of that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So you are

         14  saying - -

         15                 MR. BROPHY:  That is just one of the

         16  problems.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: - -  that by

         18  virtue of local ordinances or local laws being more

         19  restrictive than the State laws, that would be  - -

         20                 MR. BROPHY:  It is actually not a

         21  local ordinance; it's the discretion of the

         22  licensing official on a county- by- county basis.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Whatever

         24  terminology you want to use.  The restrictions that

         25  local governments put that are more restrictive on
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          2  the State or Federal, you would probably consider

          3  that to be inequitably done throughout the State, so

          4  that would make it unconstitutional?

          5                 MR. BROPHY:  In addition, I would

          6  adhere to the view of the Second Amendment that was

          7  expressed by Judges Garwin and Parker of the Fifth

          8  Circuit in the United States versus Emerson case.

          9  And would respectfully submit that a person has an

         10  individual right to keep and bear arms until by

         11  their conduct they forfeit it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So you would

         13  find then, this is fascinating to me, I apologize.

         14  But you would find then that the City Administrative

         15  Code that we have, that is more restrictive than the

         16  rest of the State, would be unconstitutional?

         17                 MR. BROPHY:  I, personally, would.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So the entire

         19  thing that we want to amend, that is already on the

         20  books, would be unconstitutional anyway?

         21                 MR. BROPHY:  Sure, and let me give me

         22  interesting examples of it.  You know, and again,

         23  where disparate impact is concerned  - -

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  That is the

         25  word, I couldn't think of it, thank you.
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          2                 MR. BROPHY: - -  it's well known

          3  that, Pontcel (phonetic) Berger, Arthur Selzberger,

          4  Sr., possessed and still may possess a New York

          5  Citys license to carry concealed.  The publisher of

          6  Essence Magazine, whose name escapes me at the

          7  moment, has such a license and had it for many

          8  years.  And in what was temporarily coincidental to

          9  the occasion of his demonstrating at One Police

         10  Plaza shortly after the death of Patrick Dorismond,

         11  the Department decided upon a renewal application

         12  that he no longer needed a license to carry it

         13  concealed.  Nothing in his personal circumstances

         14  had changed, except that one day he had it and one

         15  day he didn't.

         16                 While I am on that subject, again,

         17  noting what would probably have a disparate impact,

         18  there were probably lots of people who came out to

         19  demonstrate on behalf of and in memory of Patrick

         20  Dorismond, Abner Louima, and Amadu Diallo, and any

         21  one of them who racked up three trespassing

         22  misdemeanors is, under this legislation, deemed

         23  unfit to defend themselves, their homes, their

         24  businesses with a firearm.

         25                 In addition, there were reports that
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          2  leaked out of One Police Plaza during the time the

          3  civilian administrator of the License Division was a

          4  woman named Karen Pacstis (phonetic), the immediate

          5  predecessor to Mr. Prasso, that there were

          6  occasionally and irregularly internal guidance

          7  changes in the decision- making regarding issuing

          8  carrying licenses.  One of them, which was

          9  apparently in effect for several months and caused a

         10  great deal of upsetment (sic) within the Division

         11  and within the small world of licensees, was that

         12  renewal licenses for business carried persons would

         13  not be renewed if the person could not demonstrate

         14  for the first time, $1,000 in average daily cash

         15  deposits.  Which meant, of course, that if you were

         16  a Midtown dentist you would probably get to keep

         17  your license upon a renewal applications, and if you

         18  were a record storeowner or a bodega operator on

         19  116th Street that you didn't.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  I understand

         21  the gist of the argument.  I just, was really just

         22  curious as to the, because I saw your testimony and

         23  the gentleman who couldn't stay, really talk a lot

         24  about the constitutional issues.

         25                 I need to go, I need to apologize.  I
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          2  want to thank my Chairman for allowing me to cut the

          3  line and the Council member who drafted the bill.  I

          4  appreciate it, I appreciate your time, it was quite

          5  interesting.  Thank you.

          6                 MR. BROPHY:  And I'm available for

          7  follow- up for anyone who cares to.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And he is still

          9  available for dinner also, just so you know.

         10                 MR. BROPHY:  My wife is very

         11  gracious, she wouldn't mind.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, first let

         13  me commend the fact that you came down here, you

         14  hold a view that, obviously, that what we have done

         15  in New York previously is unconstitutional, and you

         16  are entitled to that, and that is what we are here

         17  for, for debate.  And I know it's tough to come to a

         18  hearing where you were pretty sure you would be the

         19  only person holding that view.  And I was that

         20  person last week at the Reparations hearing, so I

         21  understand how tough that is.

         22                 MR. BROPHY:  Yes, I could be missing,

         23  Mr. Keane, right now.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And let me

         25  state, also, I believe in the Second Amendment, I
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          2  did mention before, I own a rifle, but I also

          3  believe that we could put serious restrictions on

          4  the ownership based on conduct, as you said. And

          5  what we have done here is constitutional.  What we

          6  look to do, is also improving on the constitutional

          7  acts we have done in the past.

          8                 Let me just, I'm going to try to keep

          9  this as quick as possible, go through some of the

         10  things you said. You said that one misdemeanor

         11  assault record may not have any fair predictive

         12  value for future violent crime.  We disagree on

         13  that, and I would air on the side of caution when it

         14  comes to an assault conviction for a person and a

         15  weapon.

         16                 MR. BROPHY:  Yes, I concur in direct

         17  process analysis, although not necessarily in its

         18  time frame that the more time you put between the

         19  event and the time the license is applied for, the

         20  less predictive value it has.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well I would

         22  agree with you.  Would you agree - -

         23                 MR. BROPHY:  If there was an assault

         24  yesterday, I would agree that it has predictive

         25  value for this week.  I would not agree that it has
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          2  predictive value for 15 years from now, and

          3  somewhere in between lies an interesting area to be

          4  researched.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I was about to

          6  ask you, if we did put a 10- year time limit, let's

          7  say on your assault conviction, would that allow you

          8  to be in favor of this provision.

          9                 MR. BROPHY:  I wouldn't want to

         10  commit to a particular time period, unless there

         11  were research that could support that there was

         12  predictive value within a time frame and that

         13  outside of that time frame there wasn't.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  All right.  You

         15  also mentioned that any Assistant District Attorney

         16  can tell you, regarding restraining orders that the

         17  person that is one step faster to the precinct.  I'm

         18  a former Assistant, and Mr. Becker is a former

         19  Assistant, and what you say does have some merit

         20  regarding the initial issuing of an order of

         21  protection, and that is why we crafted this bill to

         22  read only after a hearing.  You probably didn't know

         23  that, but we did take that consideration into

         24  consideration.

         25                 MR. BROPHY:  I assumed that that had
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          2  meant, the initial arraignment where the person has

          3  an opportunity to speak to the court and explain why

          4  this would adversely affect them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well that is a

          6  good point; we may need to specify more clearly what

          7  actually a hearing is.  But I do not believe an

          8  arraignment is enough. An Order of Protection after

          9  arraignment would be enough, in this situation,

         10  because of exactly what you said, there isn't a fair

         11  hearing done at that point, and the first one to the

         12  precinct does get the Order of Protection.  And as a

         13  former Assistant District Attorney, I know that many

         14  times that is just not a fair process and that a

         15  hearing needs to be held first.

         16                 You have mentioned the former

         17  Speaker, regarding civil disobedience, and his quote

         18  was that, "all civil right leaders understand they

         19  have to pay a penalty in the event that they

         20  exercise their civil rights, but this is too severe

         21  a penalty."  I would proposed that, well, I know

         22  that what he meant there was the loss of freedom for

         23  90 days, may be too severe a penalty.  I do not

         24  believe the loss of the right to own a gun after

         25  three misdemeanors or after three misdemeanors,
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          2  which is what my bill says, would be too much to

          3  voluntarily give up if you insist on a life of

          4  breaking the law.

          5                 MR. BROPHY:  But I would ask you, if

          6  you were inclined to join former Councilman Carrion

          7  or others, or if you were inclined to have joined

          8  the many people, including celebrities who were

          9  arrested after the three incidents that I mentioned,

         10  the Diallo incident, the Louima incident, and the

         11  Dorismond incident, you would lose the right to

         12  continue to own the rifle that you are permitted to

         13  own, and that would be a valuable thing to you,

         14  particularly, if you enjoyed opening day of hunting

         15  season, if you enjoyed keeping your own shotgun in

         16  your home, in the City, by taking it to the sporting

         17  place fields.  That would not be a fair thing for

         18  you to lose under those circumstances.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well, let me

         20  answer. First of all, you are wrong, if I went to,

         21  if I was arrested once, I would not lose it.  If I

         22  went to three  - -

         23                 MR. BROPHY:  No, three times.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: - -  different

         25  demonstrations. Correct, correct.  And was arrested.
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          2    I don't agree with the people who think getting

          3  arrested is a show for TV cameras.  If you get

          4  arrested, there are serious, serious consequences,

          5  and before I got arrested for the third time, I

          6  would weigh the fact that I would lose my gun

          7  license, if I did it for the third time.  So I don't

          8  agree with you there. And if I really wanted to make

          9  that statement, yes, well then I would have to give

         10  up my gun license, and that is what this law says.

         11                 MR. BROPHY:  I'm not sure that would

         12  be intuitive to people, before the fact.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay.  We could

         14  disagree there.  Your Brady Bill argument appears to

         15  come down to percentages.  You argue that gun

         16  control advocates say that there are more unlicensed

         17  vendors than there actually are.  So you are not

         18  denying the fact that there are unlicensed vendors

         19  at these gun shows?

         20                 MR. BROPHY:  There are private

         21  sellers at some gun shows.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And you don't

         23  believe that should be regulated?

         24                 MR. BROPHY:  I don't believe the

         25  federal government has the constitutional reach to
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          2  do it.  The State of New York had the constitutional

          3  reach to do it, and did do it.  And I don't have a

          4  legal or constitutional argument with that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, we will

          6  leave it at that then.  I'm sure Council Member

          7  Yassky has some questions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I just have a

          9  couple of quick ones, I don't want to drag this out

         10  unnecessarily, but I mean it is easy to live in a

         11  world of absolutes.  It is more difficult, but more

         12  fruitful, I would submit to contemplate and think

         13  about the real trade offs right there involved in

         14  government policies.  Is it, do I think a rule that

         15  said that anybody with three misdemeanors cannot get

         16  a gun, would that exclude some people who, would

         17  that mean that some people who really are harmless

         18  and pose no threat at all are excluded from getting

         19  a gun?  Yes, it may well.  But will it prevent many

         20  people who do have the capacity to do serious harm

         21  from getting a gun?  Yes, it would do that too.  And

         22  to me the trade off is clearly worth it.

         23                 I would submit to you that you are to

         24  consider the existing law that says anybody who

         25  commits one felony cannot have a gun.  Are there
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          2  people who have committed bank fraud, you know,

          3  possession of a credit card, 15 years ago, do we

          4  need to prohibit that person from having a gun?

          5  Maybe not. But do we save many lives and many

          6  serious injuries and many people from being robbed

          7  at gunpoint by prohibiting everyone with a felony

          8  from having a gun at a blanket level?  Yes, of

          9  course, we do.  And so to me the trade off is

         10  plainly worth it.

         11                 And every additional kind criterion

         12  that you introduce, so somebody who committed three

         13  misdemeanors, but that does not include civil

         14  disobedience, and it does not include credit card,

         15  and, you know, it doesn't include X, Y, and Z, makes

         16  administration of the law much, much more difficult.

         17    And I think another goal, reasonable goal, of

         18  government is to have laws and rules that are easily

         19  administered by the Police Department and that don't

         20  consume more resources than they have to at a time

         21  when we want every single cop possible out on the

         22  street.

         23                 So I guess I would urge you to

         24  reconsider your position on this bill, not in light

         25  of an absolute position that any infringement on a

                                                            109

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  person's ability to have gun is unacceptable, but in

          3  light of the very real trade offs that government

          4  has to make to face and evaluate.

          5                 MR. BROPHY:  It's, I respectfully

          6  have to disagree with what you are suggesting, and

          7  perhaps a more stark example of whether or not to

          8  legislate on that basis was discussed by Mayor

          9  Bloomberg back on Sunday, June 2nd, on the radio.

         10  And the subject was whether or not young Arab male

         11  should be subject to a greater degree of law

         12  enforcement scrutiny in light of events on, after

         13  September 11th.  And his answer was no, absolutely

         14  not.  And as far as I, Mayor Bloomberg, as

         15  concerned, where the Constitution is concerned we

         16  are on the side of caution.  And I think,

         17  respectfully, what you are proposing is that even

         18  thought constitutional issues impacted by your

         19  legislation, that the simplicity of easy to follow

         20  rules is more important than whether or not some - -

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  You know

         22  what, this is the second time - -

         23                 MR. BROPHY: - -  innocent folks are

         24  going to have their rights tossed out in the

         25  interest of expediency, and again, some of the other
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          2  misdemeanors, for example, a misdemeanor under City

          3  law, failure to properly file statements and reports

          4  under the lobby regulations.  My personal favorite

          5  is, unauthorized voting for appropriations by a

          6  member of this City Council, under Admin. Code 12-

          7  112. Fortune telling is a misdemeanor under State

          8  law.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes, Mr.

         10  Brophy, this is the second time that you have

         11  brought up that kind of racial generalization as the

         12  specter that you say this bill, you know, invokes.

         13  And I mean I would say that the first time you did

         14  it, you had all kinds of disclaimers, but doing it

         15  twice, I really would urge you, I think that is a

         16  serious error in judgment when you think that a bill

         17  is over broad in its generalizations to leap

         18  immediately to that kind, to the racial dialogue.  I

         19  think it, I mean, I found it offensive in the

         20  written statement.  I think that bringing it up

         21  again, to me, is an error in judgment.  I would just

         22  urge you not to do it.

         23                 MR. BROPHY:  My conscience is clear.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay.  Let

         25  me, my last point, because as you are fond of the,
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          2  you know, kind of law school, hypothetical of, take

          3  the extreme case, but you say that Intro. 208,

          4  having to do with the procurement limitations on

          5  City Procurement of firearms.

          6                 MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  You object to

          8  that and say you don't want to introduce political

          9  considerations into the procurement process.  I hope

         10  that you would agree that we do very much want to

         11  introduce safety considerations into the procurement

         12  process, and if City procurement practices are

         13  contributing to the unsafety of New York citizens,

         14  then that should be a problem that we want to

         15  remedy.

         16                 Let me give you the hypothetical

         17  example, like the fortune telling example.  If Osama

         18  Bin Laden were to open a gun manufacturing business

         19  and turn out a terrific nine millimeter, semi-

         20  automatic pistol, suitable for use by the Police,

         21  while using all the profits from that business to

         22  supply terrorists who are targeting New York City.

         23  Would you think it would be a wise idea for New York

         24  City Police Department to purchase guns from that

         25  gun business, would that be a good idea?
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          2                 MR. BROPHY:  Cheerfully, I think

          3  federal law already prohibits - -

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right.

          5                 MR. BROPHY: - -  terrorist operations

          6  from funding themselves through US commercial and

          7  fund- raising activities.  And no, it would not be a

          8  good idea for anyone to support that manufacturer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Would that be

         10  a political consideration or a safety consideration?

         11                 MR. BROPHY:  It would be a national

         12  security consideration.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right.  And

         14  it would be a security consideration.  I just would

         15  comment that on, that while I don't believe that any

         16  gun manufacturer around, today, is anywhere near the

         17  scope, poses the danger that Al Qeada poses,

         18  obviously.  I do believe that the practices of the

         19  gun industry do contribute to putting me and my

         20  fellow and sister New Yorkers at risk of gun

         21  violence.  And I believe that to the extent that we

         22  can alter their practices through our procurement

         23  decisions, we should try to do so.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Mr. Brophy,
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          2  there are no more questions.  And again, I thank you

          3  for coming down, it is always good to hear from

          4  people with all points of view, and it was very

          5  interesting.

          6                 I thank all of you for coming down

          7  and attending the hearing today.  I thank Council

          8  Member Yassky for his leadership on this issue, and

          9  we will, most likely, be voting at least three of

         10  these at our next Public Safety meeting, which the

         11  date is yet to be determined.  But you can always

         12  call into the City Council and find out when that

         13  is.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.

         16                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:38 p.m.)

         17                 (The following testimony was read

         18  into the record).

         19

         20  Testimony of:

         21  Andy Pelosi

         22  Executive Director

         23  New Yorkers Against Gun Violence

         24

         25                 Good morning, Chairman Vallone and
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          2  honorable members of the Public Safety Committee.

          3  My name is Andy Pelosi, and I am the Executive

          4  Director of New Yorkers Against Gun Violence

          5  (NYAGV).  On behalf of the organization's Board of

          6  Directors, I would like to thank the Chairman and

          7  the Committee for this opportunity to present

          8  testimony related to the Intro. Nos. 208 and 211,

          9  and Resolution Nos. 288 and 289, as sponsored by

         10  Councilman Yassky and others.

         11                 Founded in 1993, NYAGV is a statewide

         12  membership organization dedicated to reducing gun

         13  violence through advocacy and education designed to

         14  encourage action, influence public opinion and lead

         15  to policy change.  With a primary focus on New York

         16  State, the organizations also advocate at the local

         17  and national levels for laws, policies and practices

         18  that protect New York State residents and

         19  particularly youth from gun violence.

         20                 Today's testimony is in support of

         21  Intro. Nos. 208 and 211 and Reso. Nos. 288 and 289.

         22  In 1999, 1,016 people died in New York State from

         23  gunshot wounds.  In 2000, 532 people were killed by

         24  guns in New York City.  Year after year New Yorkers

         25  lose their lives to gun violence, and we pay a huge
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          2  price, including the trauma experienced by the

          3  victim's family, friends and community, and an

          4  enormous financial cost.

          5                 New York State and New York City are

          6  Leaders in the nation when it comes to strong gun

          7  lawsuit.  For example, New York State is one of only

          8  a handful of states requiring licensing and

          9  registration of handguns.  Furthermore, New York

         10  City also requires that rifle and shotgun owners be

         11  licensed and registered.  Finally, New York is only

         12  one of 18 states that have closed the gun show

         13  loophole, thereby requiring that all sales at gun

         14  shows be preceded by a criminally background check

         15  New York has the fifth lowest gun death rate in the

         16  nation.

         17                 While our city and state may lead

         18  with some of the toughest gun lawsuit, our residents

         19  remain at the mercy of the flood of illegal guns

         20  that continue to cross our borders from states with

         21  weak gun lawsuit.  Guns arrive in New York

         22  individually and in large shipments of 50 or more

         23  from distant southern states including Alabama,

         24  Florida, Georgia, North Carolina, South Carolina,

         25  Texas and Virginia.  They also come to New York in
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          2  significant quantities from neighboring states

          3  including Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Connecticut and

          4  Ohio.

          5                 Many of you are aware of a shooting

          6  at Martin Luther King Junior High School in

          7  Manhattan.  The gun used by the teenager was traced

          8  and its history emphasizes the problem of illegal

          9  guns on our streets that can easily be purchased by

         10  young people.  According to the New York Times, this

         11  gun was one of 1,033 sold illegally into the New

         12  York City gun market by a Connecticut gun dealer.

         13                 A report issued by the Bureau of

         14  Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms in November 2000

         15  stated:

         16                 Eighty percent of crime guns traced

         17  in New York City came from out- of- state, and

         18  conversely gun dealers in New York State supplied 20

         19  percent of the guns used in crimes in New York City.

         20                 Ninety- four percent of guns used by

         21  young people under age 18 in crimes in New York City

         22  come from the legal, out- of- state market.

         23                 Guns used for criminal purposes in

         24  New York City have been traced to original purchases

         25  in nearly all of the 48 contiguous states, though
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          2  the majority comes from southern and neighboring

          3  states.

          4                 Resolution No. 288, calling on the

          5  United States Congress to pass S.767 (Senator Jack

          6  Reed) and the House companion, H.R. 4034 (Rep. John

          7  Conyers) that would close the background check

          8  loophole at gun shows by extending the Brady Law to

          9  all sales at gun shows.  The loophole refers to an

         10  exemption signed into federal law in 1986 as part of

         11  the McClure- Volkmer legislation, which specifically

         12  allowed unlicensed individuals to sell their

         13  personal firearms as a hobby without conducting

         14  background checks and to operate at gun shows as

         15  long as they were other engaged in the business of

         16  selling firearms.

         17                 New Yorkers Against Gun Violence

         18  supports passage of the Reed/Conyers bills as the

         19  most effective way in which to close the gun show

         20  loophole as simply extending the Brady Law to all

         21  gun sales at gun shows.  This legislation is

         22  identical to that which was sponsored by Senator

         23  Frank Lautenberg and passed the Senate in 1999.

         24  According to the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and

         25  Firearms gun shows are the second leading source of
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          2  trafficked guns.  At least 32 states have not closed

          3  this dangerous loophole and until the federal

          4  government acts on this issue, states like New York,

          5  which closed its loophole in 2000, will continue to

          6  see illegal guns crossing our borders.

          7                 We ask that the City Council adopt

          8  Resolution 288.

          9                 Resolution Number 289, calling on the

         10  New York State Legislature to further restrict the

         11  issuance of a license for the possession and

         12  purchase of firearms. Generally, federal law

         13  prohibits those convicted of a domestic violence

         14  misdemeanor or those subject to a restraining order

         15  from owning or possessing guns.  Unfortunately, New

         16  York State does not always enforced the federal law

         17  since judges from the two justice level up are given

         18  discretion in certain instances whether to remove

         19  guns from a domestic abuser.  The New York State

         20  Penal Code, Section 400 does not include specific

         21  language barring domestic violence abusers from

         22  owning or possessing firearms, it merely refers to

         23  the applicable sections of the criminal procedure

         24  code and family court act, which describes those who

         25  are ineligible to possess or own guns.  Resolution
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          2  289 highlights a serious problem where we continue

          3  to see guns used in incidents of domestic violence.

          4                 Studies have shown that having one or

          5  more guns in the home made a woman 7.2 times more

          6  likely to be a victim of a homicide at the hands of

          7  a spouse, intimate acquaintance or close relative.

          8  In New York State over the last 13 months, a brief

          9  review of newspapers on- line returned 6 separate

         10  incidents were an order of protection had been

         11  violated and the domestic abuser subsequently used a

         12  gun to kill his victim.  In addition, there is a

         13  need to ensure that all orders of protection issued

         14  in Family and Criminal Court are computerized and

         15  made available to judges and law enforcement so that

         16  guns can be taken away from domestic violence

         17  abusers. Presently, it is our understanding that

         18  Criminal Court orders outside of New York City are

         19  not computerized; this must be rectified

         20  immediately.

         21                 We ask that the City Council adopt

         22  Resolution No. 289.

         23                 Intro. No. 208, a local law to amend

         24  the Administrative Code of the City of New York, in

         25  relation to procurement of handguns by City
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          2  agencies.  This legislation would create a Code of

          3  Conduct agreement by requiring City agencies to only

          4  purchase handguns from suppliers who make every

          5  reasonable effort to eliminate sales or possession

          6  of guns by those in the illegal market.

          7  Specifically, the Code of Conduct would include

          8  provisions where a responsible supplier (e.g.,

          9  manufacturer wholesaler or retailer) is defined as

         10  not selling more than 20 guns within a continuous

         11  12- month period in the preceding five years that

         12  were traced to use in crime or illegal possession;

         13  does not sell to dealers who operate at gun shows

         14  unless all sellers are conducting background checks,

         15  where a dealer operates out of a fixed address and

         16  maintains proper records and provides access to law

         17  enforcement; limits purchases by an individual to

         18  one gun in any 30- day period, and implements a

         19  security plan for weapons in transit.  The

         20  legislation also contains exemptions for law

         21  enforcement so that they can procure the weapons

         22  that they need.

         23                 We believe that manufacturers,

         24  wholesalers and retailers all play a role in how

         25  guns are sold and can take specific steps to ensure
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          2  that they are not diverted to the illegal market.

          3  Gun manufacturers are contacted first when a one of

          4  their guns is being traced by BATF because it was

          5  recovered at a crime scene.  Hence, gun

          6  manufacturers know when guns that they produced and

          7  sold end up being used in a crime and they also know

          8  to whom they sold the guns. According to the BATF,

          9  straw purchasing, (i.e., a qualified individual

         10  purchases guns for a disqualified person) is the

         11  leading source of trafficked guns.  Instances where

         12  manufacturers, wholesalers and retailers sell more

         13  than a few guns that make their way into the illegal

         14  market can be a good indicator that these

         15  individuals are failing to verify necessary

         16  background information of gun buyers and may be

         17  knowingly aiding the diversion of guns to the

         18  illegal market. A 1999 report from Senator Charles

         19  Schumer, found that nearly 1 percent of the

         20  federally licensed firearms dealers were responsible

         21  for over 50 percent of all guns diverted to illegal

         22  market.  The New York State portion of this report

         23  found that of the 2,974 federally licensed firearms

         24  dealers, 31 gun dealers accounted for more crime

         25  guns (841) than the remaining 2,943 licensed New
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          2  York dealers (814).  This legislation sends a

          3  message that New York City will only purchase guns

          4  from responsible sellers.

          5                 We support Intro. No. 208 and urge

          6  its passage.

          7                 Intro. No. 211, a local law to amend

          8  the Administrative Code of the City of New York, in

          9  relation to prohibiting the issuance of a permit for

         10  the possession and purchase of the rifles and

         11  shotguns to certain persons.  Since New York State

         12  does not provide for licensing of rifles and

         13  shotguns, as New York City does, this legislation

         14  simply restates the federal law as it pertains to

         15  denying the ability to possess or purchase a rifle

         16  or shotgun by those subject to court orders pursuant

         17  to either Section 530.14 of the New York State

         18  Criminally Procedure Law or Section 842- A of the

         19  New York State Family Court Act.

         20                 We support Intro. No. 211 and urge

         21  its passage.

         22                 We thank Chairman Vallone and members

         23  of the Committee for this opportunity to appear and

         24  express our views on the proposed resolutions and

         25  bills and would be happy to answer any questions.
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          2

          3  Testimony of:

          4  Lawrence G. Keane

          5  Vice- President and General Counsel

          6  National Shooting Sports Foundation, Inc.

          7

          8                 I am Lawrence G. Keane, Vice-

          9  President and General Counsel to the National

         10  Shooting Sports Foundation, Inc. (NSSF).  Formed in

         11  1961, the NSSF is the major trade association for

         12  the firearm and recreational shooting sports

         13  industry.  I thank the Council for permitting me

         14  this opportunity to explain why in the 0208- 2002

         15  must be rejected.

         16                 Introduce by Council Member Prof.

         17  David Yassky, this ordinance seeks to impose a so-

         18  called standards of conduct on any handgun

         19  manufacturer seeking to sell its legal products to

         20  the City's law enforcement agencies.

         21                 First, as a matter of public policy

         22  the proposed ordinance should not be passed because

         23  it would improperly politicize the purchase of

         24  police weapons and deny the New York City Police

         25  Department, and City law enforcement agencies, the
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          2  ability to select the firearms they believe are best

          3  suited to meet the tactical needs of their officers.

          4    I am confident that none of the firearm

          5  manufacturers currently selling to any New York City

          6  law enforcement agency will permit the City of New

          7  York, through this ordinance to regulate their

          8  business activities outside the City and State of

          9  New York.

         10                 Second, as a matter of law, the

         11  proposed ordinance cannot be passed because it

         12  violates the United States Constitution's commerce

         13  clause.  The ordinance is unconstitutional because

         14  its standards of conduct are geographically

         15  unlimited.  Through this ordinance New York City

         16  would be dictating the conditions under which

         17  firearms manufacturers could sell their products in,

         18  for example, Phoenix, Arizona, or any other location

         19  outside the City and State of New York.  The U.S.

         20  Supreme Court has held time and again that, in our

         21  federal system, states and cities do not have the

         22  power to regulate interstate power, only the U.S.

         23  Congress does underwent the Commerce Clause of the

         24  federal Constitution.

         25                 Indeed, the Supreme Court considers

                                                            125

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  interstate regulations such as those contained in

          3  the ordinance to be per se invalid.  The

          4  Constitution's Commerce Clause, Article I,

          5  Subsection 8, Clause 3, empowers only Congress to

          6  regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among

          7  the several States. As a result, the Supreme Court

          8  has long held that the Commerce Clause contains an

          9  implied limitation on the power of state and local

         10  governments to take actions affecting foreign and

         11  interstate commerce.  This implied limitation on

         12  state and local powers is referred to as the dormant

         13  Commerce Clause.

         14                 In applying the dormant Commerce

         15  Clause, courts analyze whether a state law directly

         16  regulates or discriminates against interstate

         17  commerce, or simply has an incidental effect.  When

         18  a state statute directly regulates or discriminates

         19  against interstate commerce, court have generally

         20  struck down the statute without further inquiry.

         21                 More specifically, the dormant

         22  Commerce Clause prohibits state and city governments

         23  from controlling commerce occurring wholly outside

         24  of their jurisdictions.  The Supreme Court in Healy

         25  v. Beer Institute summarized the Commerce Clause's
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          2  prohibition on such extraterritorial action as

          3  follows:

          4                 First, the Commerce

          5  Clause...precludes the application of a state

          6  statute to commerce that takes place wholly outside

          7  of the state's borders, whether or not the commerce

          8  has effects within the state...Second, a statute

          9  that directly controls commerce occurring wholly

         10  outside the boundaries of a State exceeds the

         11  inherent limits of the enacting State's authority

         12  and is invalid regardless of whether the statute's

         13  extraterritorial reach was intended by Legislature.

         14  The critical inquiry is whether the practical effect

         15  of the regulation is to control conduct beyond the

         16  boundaries of the State.  Third, the practical

         17  effect of the statute must be evaluated not only by

         18  considering the consequence of the statute itself,

         19  but also by considering how the challenged statute

         20  may interact with the legitimate regulatory regimes

         21  of other states and what effect would arise if not

         22  one, but many or every, State adopted similar

         23  legislation.  Generally speaking, the Commerce

         24  Clause protects against inconsistent legislation

         25  arising from the projection of one state regulatory
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          2  regime into the jurisdiction of another State.

          3                 The Supreme Court has repeatedly

          4  condemned such extraterritorial action as per se

          5  unconstitutional.  Stated otherwise, while lawsuit

          6  directly regulating interstate commerce are

          7  subjected to a strict scrutiny that they rarely

          8  survive, an extraterritorial law is a form of direct

          9  regulation that never survives.

         10                 The proposed ordinance's standard of

         11  conduct constitutes direct regulation of commerce

         12  occurring wholly outside of New York City and New

         13  York State, violates each of the Healy principles

         14  and is per se invalid.  First, the ordinance

         15  purports to permit New York City to regulate the

         16  design, manufacture, marketing, distribution and

         17  sales of firearms sold everywhere, and thus well

         18  beyond New York City borders.  Thus, to compete

         19  equally for New York City business, firearms

         20  manufacturers must first accede to New York City's

         21  regulations requiring that manufacturers:

         22                 Not sell weapons to certain dealers;

         23                 Not sell at gun shows except under

         24  certain conditions;

         25                 Limits the number of purchases to
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          2  individuals; and

          3                 Ship weapons in a certain fashion.

          4                 These restrictions do not apply

          5  solely to the manufacturers' business in New York

          6  City or even New York State.  Rather, they are

          7  geographically limitless.  They apply everywhere, in

          8  each of the other 49 states.  Moreover, the

          9  ordinance would regulate the business activities of

         10  business other than the manufacturers, namely

         11  distributors and, still further down the

         12  distribution system, retailers, located outside the

         13  City and State of New York and which have no

         14  business dealings with the City. Will all due

         15  respect, New York City does not have the power to

         16  regulate commerce in those jurisdictions.

         17                 In addition, the fact that the

         18  ordinance would except from its application the very

         19  law enforcement agencies that are being used as the

         20  basis for the regulation demonstrates that the City

         21  would not be acting as a market participant, but

         22  solely for the purpose of regulating interstate

         23  commerce.

         24                 The extraterritorial reach of this

         25  ordinance is undeniable, and it is identical in all
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          2  material respects to the provisions that the U.S.

          3  Supreme Court found per se invalid in Edgar versus

          4  MITE Corp., 47 U.S. 624, 640 (1982), and Brown-

          5  Forman Distillers versus New York State Liquor

          6  Auth., 476 U.S. 573, 579 (1986).  The only

          7  significant difference is that the ordinance's

          8  standard of conduct appears also to apply to

          9  foreign, as well as the interstate, commerce. State

         10  actions affecting international commerce receive

         11  even greater scrutiny.

         12                 Viewed otherwise, this ordinance's

         13  standard of conduct would impermissibly project New

         14  York City's policy choices onto other sovereign

         15  states.  In our federal system, each state is

         16  sovereign within its territorial borders, subject to

         17  the supreme authority of the federal government. See

         18  U.S. Const. Art. VI.  As the Supreme Court

         19  recognized in BMW of North America, Inc. Versus

         20  Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 571 (1996), "one State's power

         21  to impose burdens on the interstate market...is not

         22  only subordinate to the federal power over

         23  interstate commerce but is also constrained by the

         24  need to respect the interests of other States."

         25  These principles of state sovereignty and comity
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          2  forbidden each state from giving its laws an

          3  extraterritorial effect hatchet would "infringe on

          4  the policy choices of other States," because the

          5  Constitution requires each state "to avoid such

          6  encroachment."  The Constitution has a special

          7  concern for "the maintenance of a national economic

          8  union unfettered by state- imposed limitations on

          9  interstate commerce" and "the autonomy of the

         10  individual States within their respective spheres."

         11  The proposed ordinance's standard of conduct

         12  contravenes that important constitutional principle.

         13                 Indeed, the extraterritorial nature

         14  of the ordinance is similar in all material respects

         15  to statutes recently stricken down as per se

         16  unconstitutional.  In National Foreign Trade Council

         17  versus Natsios, 181 F.3d 65 (1st. Cir. 1999), aff'd

         18  on other grounds sub nom Crosby versus National

         19  Foreign Trade Council, 120 S. Ct. 2288 (2000), the

         20  First Circuit scrutinized Massachusetts "Burma law,"

         21  which sought to discourage companies from "doing

         22  business" with Myanmar (formerly known as Burma) by

         23  placing such companies at a competitive

         24  disadvantages for contracts with the state.

         25  Regarding the domestic, or interstate Commerce
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          2  Clause, the First Circuit stated the following:

          3                 As the NFTC noted at oral argument,

          4  Massachusetts' action here is Akin to prohibiting

          5  purchases from companies that do business in states

          6  that have policies with which Massachusetts

          7  disagrees.  This would plainly be unconstitutional

          8  under the domestic Commerce Clause. Massachusetts

          9  surely cannot do the same in the international

         10  context, as state actions that affect international

         11  commerce receive even greater scrutiny than do

         12  actions that affect interstate commerce.

         13                 Similarly, in Air Transport Assoc. Of

         14  America versus City and County of San Francisco, 992

         15  F. Supp. 1149 (N.D. Cal.1998), the Northern District

         16  of California invalidated a San Francisco ordinance

         17  that required companies doing business with the city

         18  to provide "domestic partner" benefits to all

         19  company employees, not just those working in the he

         20  city.  The court held that the ordinance violated

         21  the Commerce Clause because it "effectively

         22  regulated certain extraterritorial practices of City

         23  contractors."

         24                 Here, the ordinance's imposition of

         25  restrictions on all firearms sales everywhere would
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          2  have the "practical effect" of exporting New York

          3  City's policy choice to all other jurisdictions.  It

          4  facially infringes on the autonomy and sovereignty

          5  of states that have made other policy choices, and

          6  it discriminates against interstate and foreign

          7  commerce.  The ordinance is per se unconstitutional;

          8  it cannot be enacted in a manner consistent with the

          9  United State Constitution, and, for that reason

         10  alone, should be rejected.

         11                 I thank you for your time and obvious

         12  attention.  We hope this Council will reject Int.

         13  208 because it is both unwise and unconstitutional

         14  nature of this proposed ordinance.  I would be happy

         15  to try and answer any questions the Council might

         16  have.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 12:38 p.m.)
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          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
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          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript
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